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Module AS 

Accounting Standards Updates 

 
 

What Is an Accounting Standards Update? 
 
 
Since the FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM (ASC) is now the only authoritative 
source of generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, new pronouncements 
have to be added to the ASC to be authoritative. The mechanism for making these changes is an 
Accounting Standards Update.  
 
ASUs are numbered based on the year issued, and the order in which they are issued. Therefore, 
ASU 2015-01 is the first update issued during 2015. 
 
ASUs can be found on the FASB website (www.fasb.org).  Click on “Standards”, then 
Accounting Standards Updates.  You can view pdf files with the updates.  Note that the Updates 
are written as a means to provide changes to the Codification.  Therefore, they show the details 
of words to be added or removed from the ASC, which can make the ASU difficult to read in a 
way that allows readers to understand what has actually changed.  To address this, the FASB 
includes a summary at the beginning of every ASU that describes in (relatively!) plain English 
what the Update is intended to do.   
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ASU 2016-01 Recognition and Measurement of 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

 
 
Why was this standard issued? 

This ASU is the culmination of a project that began before the global economic crisis in 2008 as 
a joint FASB/IASB Project that would homogenize the accounting for financial instruments.   
 
The IASB issued their final standard in 2015, and this standard is the first of three that will be 
issued by the FASB that will address the necessary changes. 
 
This standard provides guidance for both the initial and subsequent recognition of financial 
assets and financial liabilities, as well as presentation and disclosure issues.  Subsequent 
standards will address impairment and hedging. 
 
This standard was originally intended to provide a single model for accounting for all financial 
instruments, but instead affects mainly investments in equity and debt securities, and makes 
changes primarily to investments in equity securities. 
 
Who is affected by this standard? 

All entities that hold financial assets or financial liabilities will be affected by this ASU. Because 
of the broad range of assets and liabilities that are included within the scope of financial assets 
and liabilities, it is expected that this standard will impact almost every entity reporting under 
United States GAAP. 
 
What are the main provisions of this standard? 

Establishment of ASC 321 and Reduction of Scope of ASC 320 
 
This standard segregates the accounting for debt and equity investments by modifying ASC 320 
to include only guidance related to debt investments and the creation of ASC 321 to provide 
guidance for equity investments. 
 
Equity Investments (ASC 321) 
 
Measurement 
 
This standard provides a major change in accounting for equity investments that was first 
established by SFAS 115.  Prior to SFAS 115, equity investments were accounted for using the 
cost method.  SFAS 115 required marketable equity securities to be accounted for at market, 
with a caveat.  Management had to determine whether marketable equity securities were either 
“trading securities” or “available for sale” securities.  Both classifications required measurement 
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at fair value, with the difference in how the unrealized gain or loss was presented.  Trading gains 
and losses were included in net income, while unrealized gains and losses from available for sale 
securities were included in other comprehensive income. 
 
ASU 2016-01 eliminates the distinction between trading and available for sale equity 
investments.  All equity investments (with exception noted below) will now be measured at fair 
value with the unrealized gain or loss recognized in net income. 
 
Equity investments that meet the following criteria are not subject to the provisions of this 
standard: 
 

 Equity investments accounted for under the equity method 
 Equity investments in that result in the consolidation of the investee 

 
Equity Securities without Readily Determinable Fair Values (ASC 321-10-35-2) 
 
An entity may elect to measure an equity security without a readily determinable fair value by 
measuring such security at cost less impairment.  This measurement is further supplemented by 
requiring an adjustment (plus or minus) resulting from observable price changes in orderly 
transactions for identical or a similar investments of the same issuer. 
 
The election to treat such equity securities shall remain in effect until such time as the security 
no longer qualifies to be accounted for within this section.  The entity shall reassess at each 
reporting period whether the equity investment continues to qualify as an equity security without 
a readily determinable fair value. 
 
Impairment of Equity Securities without Readily Determinable Fair Values (ASC 321-10-
35-3) 
 
If an entity holds an equity security without a readily determinable fair value (that does not 
qualify for the practical expedient to estimate fair value under ASC 820-10-35-59, a qualitative 
assessment is now available under ASC 321-10-35-3.  The equity security shall be written down 
to its fair value if the qualitative assessment indicates the security is impaired.  The following 
factors should be considered in the qualitative assessment: 
 

 A significant deterioration  in the earnings performance, credit rating, asset 
quality, or business prospects of the investee 

 A significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the investee 

 A significant adverse change in the general market conditions of either the 
geographical area or the industry in which the investee operates 

 A bona fide offer to purchase, an offer by the investee to sell, or a completed 
auction process for the same or similar investment for an amount less than the 
carrying amount of the investment 
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• Factors that raise significant concern, such as negative cash flows from 
operations, working capital deficiencies, or noncompliance with statutory capital 
requirements or debt covenants. 

 
The above list of items is not considered to be all-inclusive. Any other factors that an entity 
would consider in determining if an impairment exists should be considered. 
 
Debt Securities (ASC 320) 
 
Initial and Subsequent Measurement 
 
Unlike the changes to equity securities, investments in debt securities will continue to be 
classified into the three categories established by SFAS 115: 

 Trading securities 
 Available for sale securities 
 Held to maturity securities 

 
The initial measurement and subsequent measurement for debt securities will remain unchanged. 
 
Disclosure of certain information related to financial instruments measured at amortized 
cost 
 
The following changes to disclosures are included in ASU 2016-01: 

 A non-public entity that measures debt securities held to maturity at amortized 
cost is no longer required to disclose the fair value of such financial instruments. 

 Public business entities are no longer required to disclose the methods and 
significant assumptions used to estimate fair value for financial instruments that 
are measured at amortized cost on the balance sheet. 

 Public entities are required to use the exit price notion when measuring the fair 
value. 

 
Presentation issues for Comprehensive Income 
 
Certain financial liabilities that entities elect to account for under the fair value option in ASC 
825-10-25-1 will now be required to present separately in other comprehensive income the 
portion of the total change in the fair value of the liability resulting from a change in the 
instrument-specific credit risk. 
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Presentation and Disclosure Issues – Balance Sheet 
 
An entity must present separately on the face of the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial 
statements the following information: 
 
Financial assets by measurement category 

 Trading 
 Available for sale 
 Held to maturity 

 
Financial assets by form of financial asset 

 Securities 
 Loans 
 Receivables 
  

Financial liabilities by measurement category 
 
Financial liabilities by form of financial liability 
 
Consideration of Valuation Allowance for a Deferred Tax Asset 
 
ASU 2016-01 clarifies the requirement for an entity to evaluate the need for a valuation 
allowance on a deferred tax asset related to available for sale securities in combination with the 
entity’s other deferred tax assets. 
 
 
 
Transition Guidance 

Upon adoption, an entity should apply the amendments by means of a cumulative-effect 
adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. 
 
The amendments related to equity securities without readily determinable fair values should be 
applied prospectively to equity investments that exist as of the date of the adoption of this 
update. 
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When will this ASU be effective? 

Public entities 
 
Public entities shall adopt this standard in the first fiscal year beginning after December 15, 
2017, including interim periods within those years. 
 
All other entities 
 
All other entities shall adopt this standard in the first fiscal year beginning after December 15, 
2018, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. 
 
Early adoption is permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim 
periods within those fiscal years. 
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ASU 2016-13 – Measurement of Credit Losses on 
Financial Instruments 

 
Why was this standard issued? 

Current generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) require an “incurred loss” 
methodology for recognizing credit losses that delays recognition until it is probable a loss has 
been incurred. Both financial institutions and users of their financial statements expressed 
concern that current GAAP restricts the ability to record credit losses that are expected, but do 
not yet meet the “probable” threshold. 
 
The main objective of this Update is to provide financial statement users with more decision-
useful information about the expected credit losses on financial instruments and other 
commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. To achieve this 
objective, the amendments in this Update replace the incurred loss impairment methodology in 
current GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration 
of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. 
 
The new model is referred to as the “Current Expected Credit Loss” (CECL) model. 
 
 
Who is affected by this standard? 

Virtually any entity which holds financial assets which are not accounted for at fair value 
through net income will be affected.  Obviously, financial institutions will be impacted more 
than any other industry due to the size of their receivable portfolios, but it also affects any 
company which has trade receivables.  There is significant diversity in practice in applying the 
incurred loss methodology, so some companies’ processes may be currently aligned closely with 
the new expected loss methodology. 
 
 
What are the main provisions of this standard? 

 
Financial assets measured at amortized cost basis are to be presented in the balance sheet at the 
net amount expected to be collected, by using a valuation allowance.  The income statement will 
reflect the measurement of credit losses for newly recognized financial assets, as well as the 
expected increases or decreases of expected credit losses that have taken place during the period. 
(326-20-30-1) 
 
When calculating the valuation allowance, the measurement is based on relevant information 
about past events (including historical loss experience), current conditions, and reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect the collectibility of the reported amount. Entities will be 
required to use a great deal of judgment in determining the information to be considered.  Please 
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note that while historical loss ratios are the appropriate place to start the analysis, current events 
and conditions at the balance sheet date must be considered.  Management must also evaluate 
how conditions that existed during the historical charge-off period might differ from its current 
expectations and revise loss ratios appropriately.  While management must estimate losses 
expected to be incurred during the entire life of the contract, they are not required to forecast 
conditions over that contractual life.  Forecasts should only be made for the period for which the 
entity can make reasonable and supportable forecasts.  For periods beyond that time frame, the 
entity reverts to historical credit loss experience. (326-20-30-7 through 10) 
 
See the Implementation Guidance in ASC 326-20-55 for discussion of methods and information 
to be considered in estimating the allowance for credit losses.  The detailed discussion of 
determining the appropriate allowance is beyond the scope of this course. 
 
Unit of Account 
 
The CECL model does not prescribe a unit of account.  However, an entity is required to 
evaluate financial assets on a collective (i.e., pool) basis when assets share similar risk 
characteristics.  (326-20-30-2) Otherwise, the financial assets will be evaluated individually.  If 
an individual asset is evaluated for credit losses, available external information such as credit 
ratings and other credit loss statistics must be considered. 
 
For many entities, this will not require a change in methodology as most companies evaluate 
credit losses on a pool method now.  However, entities will need to consider if their current data-
capturing processes comply with the requirements of the CECL model. 
 
Collateral Dependent Financial Assets 
 
An entity will continue to be permitted to measure its estimate of the expected credit loss on 
collateral-dependent financial assets as the difference between the asset’s amortized cost and the 
collateral’s fair value, adjusted for selling costs. (326-20-35-4) 
 
Available for Sale Debt Securities 
 
Initially, this project was intended to result in a single impairment approach for all financial 
assets, eliminating the multiple approaches that exist in current GAAP.  For example, while 
receivable impairment was recorded using a valuation allowance with an incurred loss 
calculation, available-for-sale securities used a direct write down method based on the notion of 
“other-than-temporary impairment”.  This standard did not meet the goal of having one set of 
accounting rules for all financial instruments.  However, it does simplify AFS accounting. 
 
The CECL model does not apply to AFS debt securities.  Instead, they changed the AFS 
guidance (in ASC 320) to require the use of an allowance approach instead of permanently 
writing down the cost basis.  This approach is an improvement because it allows for a recovery 
of the charge when conditions improve.  The allowance is limited to the amount at which the 
security’s fair value is less than its amortized cost.  
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CECL Transition Resource Group 
 
 
The FASB created the CECL Transition Resource Group to identify and provide guidance to 
entities as they implement the guidance in ASU 2016-13.  The TRG is chaired by FASB member 
Harold Schroder.  The issues addressed by the TRG and a current agenda can be found at 
fasb.org. 
 
Even though some of the issues may not be exactly on point for the issues you are facing, the 
conclusions reached on some of the issues may provide insight as to how certain items should be 
handled by your company.  Each of the issues outlines a particular item for implementation.  
Feedback from various stakeholders is discussed, along with a staff analysis of the issue.  The 
conclusion reached by the TRG is then provided in the memo that covers all of the issues 
addressed at a TRG meeting. 
 
The following issues have been addressed by the TRG: 
 
Issues considered on June 12, 2017 
 
Memo No. 1 Discounting expected Cash Flows at the Effective Interest Rate 
 
This issue focused on the requirement that future cash flows be discounted at the effective 
interest rate of a loan.  If the loan is held at a premium, the expectation of cash flows will always 
increase the allowance, and conversely, if the loan is held at a discounted, the expectation fo cash 
flows will always decrease the allowance. 
 
The staff proposed an accounting policy election that would allow an entity to entity to use an 
effective interest rate, adjusted for prepayment expectations, when using a discounted cash flow 
method to determine the allowance for credit losses.  The TRG members support the staff’s 
view. 
 
 
Memo No. 2 Scope of PCD Assets (Purchased Financial Assets with Credit Deterioration) for 

Beneficial Interests 
 
The underlying problem is that when an entity purchases a beneficial interest in financial assets 
that already have a credit deterioration the purchase price of the beneficial interest has already 
factored in the potential of not recognizing all of the contractual cash flows from the underlying 
assets. The issue is whether or not an entity should consider the original contractual cash flows 
or the actual payments that are expected to occur when the asset is purchased. The stakeholders 
expressed two different views of how to determine a beneficial interest’s cash flows: 
 
View A Contractual cash flows should not consider credit losses or prepayments 
 
View B Contractual cash flows should not consider credit losses but should consider 

prepayments that are expected to occur 
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The staff believed that View B is appropriate and TRG members agreed with the staff on this 
treatment. 
 
Memo No. 3 Transition Guidance for PCD Assets 
 
The transition guidance in ASU 2016-13 allowed an entity to elect to maintain pools of loans for 
PCD assets (Loans and Debt Securities Acquired with Deteriorated Credit Quality).  The 
guidance for these types of assets are in ASC 310-30.  The guidance in ASU 2016-13 was not 
clear as to whether this election was for transition only or could be applied to PCD assets 
acquired subsequent to the adoption of CECL. 
 
The TRG concluded that the language in 326-10-65-1(d) could support either option. It was 
noted that stakeholders of large institutions appeared to favor only pooling at adoption of the 
standard and the smaller institutions may look favorably upon applying the guidance subsequent 
to adoption. 
 
Memo No. 4 Accounting for Troubled Debt Restructuring 
 
The guidance in ASU 2016-13 requires an entity to extend the contractual term of expected 
extensions, renewals, and modifications if an entity has a reasonable expectation at the reporting 
date that it will execute a TDR (troubled debt restructuring). The requirement, combined with the 
elimination of the concept of an individually impaired loan, has raised concerns of the proper 
accounting for a TDR asset based on the amendments contained in ASU 2016-13.  Specifically, 
should entities forecast all types of reasonably expected TDR’s on a portfolio basis and include 
the effect of those reasonably expected TDR’s in the calculation of expected credit losses? 
 
The staff and the TRG discussed various aspects of the issue and could not reach a conclusion.  
Additional research will be performed on this issue and it will be addressed again by the TRG. 
 
Memo No. 5 Determining the Estimated Life of a Credit Card Receivable 
 
In order to apply the transition guidance in ASU 2016-13, an entity is required to determine the 
estimated life of a credit card receivable so that an assessment of credit losses can be made.  The 
staff determined that there were two possible options: 
 

1. All principal payments expected to be received after the payment date be applied to the 
credit card receivable balance that exists at the measurement date until that balance is 
exhausted. 
 

2. Should expected principal payments be allocated in some manner between the credit card 
balance at the measurement date and future credit card balances that would be created 
from the use of the credit card. 
 

The TRG concluded that either option is available as long as losses were not recorded for 
commitments that are unconditionally cancellable. 
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Issues considered on June 11, 2018 
 
Memo No. 8 Capitalized Interest 
 
The requirements of ASU 2016-13 caused confusion when an entity did not use a discounted 
cash flow (CDF) model when applying the guidance to a financial instrument that could have 
capitalized interest. 
 
The staff determined that there are three views when a financial instrument contains accrued 
interest receivable as a capitalized amount in the financial instrument. 
 
View A Future interest amounts that are expected to be capitalized should be considered in 

the estimate of expected credit losses using a non-DCF method. Proponents stated 
that future capitalizable interest is akin to a discount on a zero-coupon bond and, 
therefore, should be treated as such.   

 
View B Future interest amounts expected to be capitalized should not be considered when 

estimating expected credit losses. Proponents stated that the basis for estimation 
of credit losses using a non-DCF method is the current amortized cost basis, 
which does not include future expected capitalized interest. 

 
View C Future expected capitalized interest should be treated like an unfunded loan 

commitment with a liability recognized and measured for expected future credit 
losses on the off-balance sheet exposure. Proponents stated that future accrued 
interest that will ultimately be capitalized to the principal balance of the loan is 
economically similar to a line of credit that has not been fully drawn down on 
Day 1. Therefore, future accrued interest should be treated like an unfunded loan 
commitment. 

 
The staff disagreed with Views A and C.  The staff agreed with View B because they do not 
believe that that it is appropriate to measure and record an allowance on an asset that is not 
recorded on the balance sheet at the date of the estimate of future losses. 
 
The TRG agreed with the staff position of supporting View B.  The TRG provide the staff with 
additional issues that arose during the discussion. The staff will develop suggestions for those 
issues, and they will be addressed at future meetings. 
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Memo No. 9 Accrued Interest 
 
There are two issues related to accrued interest: 
 
Issue 1  Inclusion of Accrued Interest in the Definition of Amortized Cost Basis 
 
Including accrued interest in the definition of amortized cost basis will be operationally 
burdensome and costly to implement. The staff recommended a solution that would keep the 
accrued interest in the definition of amortized cost basis, but would provide practical expedients 
in the following manner: 
 

(a) Perform a CECL evaluation for the accrued interest amounts separately from 
their associated loan balances   
 

(b) Allow entities to retain their current practice when presenting accrued interest 
 

(c) Disclose the accrued interest amounts included in amortized cost for the    
vintage disclosure table by either: 

 
(1) including the amounts in the vintage year and class of financing 
receivable amounts 
 
(2) including the amounts in the class of financing receivable amounts 
only, or  
 
(3) adding a footnote to the table that states the total amount of accrued 
interest 
 

 
Issue 2  Reversal of Accrued Interest on Nonaccrual Loans 
 
A conflict exists between current nonaccrual practices and the write-off guidance in ASU 2016-
13 (specifically 326-20-35-8) related to accounting of previously accrued, but unpaid interest, 
applicable to loans placed in non-accrual status. The write-off guidance in ASU 2016-13 requires 
the reversal of such accrued interest through the allowance, current guidance on non-accrual 
policies allow the reversal of accrued, but unpaid interest, through interest income.  There are 
two views on how to address this conflict. 
 
View A The reversal of accrued interest applicable to a loan placed in nonaccrual status 

should be accomplished through a debit to interest income and a credit to the 
amortized cost basis of the loan. The reversal would include a reduction to the 
allowance against the credit loss expense that will reverse any amount of 
allowance previously established for outstanding amounts of accrued interest 
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View B For all entities, regardless of whether they adhere to nonaccrual policies, the 

reversal of accrued interest applicable to loans placed in nonaccrual status, or 
otherwise deemed uncollectible, should be accomplished through a debit to the 
allowance for credit losses and a credit to the amortized cost basis of the loan, 
identical to a partial write-off of a portion of the principal balance of the loan. 
There should be no effect on the interest income line item for the reversal of 
accrued interest applicable to loans placed in nonaccrual status or otherwise 
deemed uncollectible because the loss would be reflected entirely in the credit 
loss expense line item. 

 
The staff believes that it was not the intent of the FASB to change existing non-accrual policies 
in such a broad manner.  The staff proposed a practical expedient that would allow the reversal 
of accrued interest through a debit to interest income and a credit to the amortized cost basis of 
the loan. 
 
The TRG agreed with the staff’s views on both issues.  The staff will continue to research the 
issue and provide the Board with suggestions for targeted improvements. 
 
 
Memo No. 10 Transfer of Loans from Held for Sale to Held for Investment and Transfer of 

Credit Impaired Debt Securities from Available-for-Sale to Held-to-Maturity 
 
The guidance in ASU 2016-13 requires an entity to calculate expected credit losses on held-for-
investment loans upon transfer from the held-for-sale classification.  Stakeholders believe this 
could cause a double accounting of credit losses.  Three views have developed that could resolve 
the issue: 
 
View A (Day 1 Loss Approach)—Under this view, an allowance and related credit loss 

expense for lifetime expected credit losses would be required at the time of the 
transfer. 

 
View B (Discount Reduces Allowance)—Under this view, an allowance for credit losses 

would be required at the time of the transfer; however, unlike View A, the amount 
of the allowance for credit losses would be reduced by any discount attributable to 
losses already recognized in the income statement while classified as a loan HFS 
or an AFS debt security. 

 
View C (Direct Write-Down)—This view would be applicable only to loans. Under this 

view, the valuation allowance established while classified as HFS is treated as a 
direct write-down upon transfer to HFI. As a result, no allowance is required upon 
transfer or at subsequent reporting dates unless the expected credit losses exceed 
the amount of the write-down. Stakeholders indicated that this view would not be 
applicable to debt securities because the guidance in paragraph 320-10-35-10(d) 
requires the discount for the difference between the fair value and amortized cost 
to be recognized subsequently using the interest method. 
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The staff believed that none of those three approaches were sufficient, therefore the staff 
proposed a fourth approach. Under the staff approach, an entity would be required to reverse a 
previous valuation allowance or expected credit loss when transferring between categories for 
loans and debt securities and then apply the relevant guidance applicable to that loan or debt 
security classification. 
 
The TRG supported the alternative proposed by the staff.  The staff will continue to discuss 
targeted improvements with the Board at upcoming meetings. 
 
Memo No. 11 Recoveries 
 
Diversity in practice was observed on whether future expected cash receipts (expected 
recoveries) from a financial asset that had been written off in the future should be included in the 
calculation of expected losses in accordance with ASU 2016-13.  The diversity was created 
because ASC 326-20-31-1 implies that recoveries of financial assets should be include din the 
net amount expected to be collected, and therefore recoveries would be included in the 
calculation. However, ASC 326-20-35-8 specifically states that recoveries of written off assets 
should be recorded when received.  If the recovery is assumed in the allowance calculation, it is 
effectively accounted for earlier than when it is received, in violation of ASC 326-20-35-8. 
 
The staff believes that recoveries should be accounted for in the calculation of the allowance for 
credit losses.   
 
The TRG agreed with the staff position.  The TRG noted additional issues that arose during the 
discussion, and the staff will discuss additional targeted improvements with the Board. 
 
 
Memo No. 12 Refinancing and Loan Prepayments 
 
There is diversity in practice in determining whether entities are required to use the loan 
refinancing or restructuring guidance in ASC 310-20-35-9 through 12 in determining what 
constitutes a prepayment for the purposes of measuring expected credit losses.  Specifically, 
guidance was required to assist entities in determining the context of refinancing a loan with the 
same lender for which the financing is not considered to be a troubled debt restructuring. 
 
Two views were identified for this issue. 
 
View A To apply the expected prepayment guidance in paragraph 326-20-30-6 to an 

expected refinancing with the same lender before contractual maturity, assuming 
the refinancing is not a troubled debt restructuring, an entity must first apply the 
guidance in paragraphs 310-20-35-9 through 35-12 to determine whether the 
refinancing is expected to be a modification of the original loan or a new loan.  If 
the refinancing is expected to be a modification under paragraphs 310-20-35-9 
through 35-12, it will not be considered in determining the term over which 
expected credit losses are estimated.  Conversely, if the refinancing is expected 
to be an extinguishment of the original loan under paragraphs 310-20-35-9 
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through 35-12, it will be considered in the same manner as an expected 
prepayment with cash settlement. 

 
View B Topic 326 does not define a specific framework for the consideration of 

prepayments and, consistent with other elements of CECL, whether a transaction 
or amendment should be considered a prepayment in accordance with paragraph 
326-20-30-6 is a matter of professional judgment. Moreover, although the 
framework articulated in paragraphs 310-20-35-9 through 35-12 may provide 
one approach to considering prepayments—it is not the only approach— and for 
many types of loans it may not represent an approach that is either conceptually 
appropriate or operationally feasible. 

 
The staff believes that while an entity should not be required to sue the loan modification 
guidance in ASC 310-20-35-9 through 12 to determine what constitutes a pre-payment, an entity 
should not be precluded from using that guidance. 
 
The TRG supported the staff conclusion, and no further work will be performed on this issue. 
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What is the effective date of this standard? 

 
There are several different effective dates, depending on the status of the entity. 
 
 For public business entities that are SEC filers, the effective date is for fiscal years 

beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those years. 
 

 For public business entities that are not SEC filers, the effective date is for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those years. 

 
 For all other entities, , the effective date is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 

2020, and for interim periods within  fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. 
 

Early application is permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including 
interim periods within those fiscal years. 
 
An entity shall apply this standard by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening 
retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the standard is 
effective.  Note that there are different transition requirements for purchased financial assets with 
credit deterioration and for AFS debt securities (apply guidance prospectively). 
 
 
Disclosures 
 
Financial institutions (and others with significant lending portfolios) will have extensive 
disclosures to make regarding the allowance and the methodology used in developing that 
allowance.  Most companies who have only trade accounts receivable (with a term of less than 
one year) will not see a significant increase from the disclosures required under existing GAAP. 
 
The disclosures should enable a user of the financial statements to understand the following: 
 

a. The credit risk inherent in a portfolio and how management monitors the credit quality 
of the portfolio 

b. Management’s estimate of expected credit losses 
c. Changes in the estimate of expected credit losses that have taken place during the 

period.  
 

It is likely that companies will need to provide a more robust policy discussion in the Summary 
of Significant Accounting Policies than is currently disclosed.   
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ASU 2016-15 Statement of Cash Flows - Classification 

of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments 

 
Why was this standard issued? 

This standard was issued to address the diversity in practice in reporting certain cash receipts and 
payments in the Statement of Cash Flows.  Eight specific issues were addressed. 
 
Who is affected by this standard? 

These amendments apply to all entities that are required to present a statement of cash flows. 
 
What are the main provisions of this standard? 

 
Issue 1: Debt Prepayment or Debt Extinguishment Costs 
 
 Cash payments for debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs should be classified as 

cash outflows for financing activities. 
 
Issue 2:  Settlement of Zero-Coupon Debt Instruments 
 
 At the settlement of zero-coupon debt instruments (or other debt instruments with coupon 

interest rates that are insignificant in relation to the effective interest rate of the 
borrowing), the cash flows must be split into operating and financing activities.  The 
portion of the cash payment attributable to the accreted interest should be classified as 
operating activities and the portion attributable to the principal as cash outflows for 
financing activities. 

 
Issue 3: Contingent Consideration Payments Made after a Business Combination 
 
 Cash payments made soon after the acquisition date of a business combination to settle a 

contingent consideration liability should be classified as cash outflows for investing 
activities. 

 
Cash payments for contingent consideration that were not made soon after the acquisition 
date of a business combination should be separated and classified as cash outflows for 
financing activities and operating activities. Cash payments up to the amount of the 
contingent consideration liability recognized at the acquisition date (including 
measurement-period adjustments) should be classified as financing activities; any excess 
should be classified as operating activities. Cash payments made soon after the 
acquisition date of a business combination by an acquirer to settle a contingent 
consideration liability should be classified as cash outflows for investing activities. 
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Note that the EITF specifically decided not to set a time frame for the term “soon after”.  
However, some Task Force members believe that a payment made with in a relatively 
short period of time after the acquisition date (for example, three months or less), would 
qualify as “soon after”. (paragraph BC 16). 

 
Issue 4: Proceeds from the Settlement of Insurance Claims 
 

Cash proceeds received from the settlement of insurance claims should be classified on 
the basis of the nature of the loss. For insurance proceeds that are received in a lump sum 
settlement, an entity should determine the classification on the basis of the nature of each 
loss included in the settlement. 
 
For example, insurance proceeds relating to damaged equipment would be classified as 
investing cash flows, while a settlement relating to business interruption would be 
classified as operating cash flows. 
 

Issue 5:  Proceeds from the Settlement of Corporate-Owned (or Bank Owned) Life Insurance 
Policies 
 
 Cash proceeds received from the settlement of corporate-owned life insurance policies 

should be classified as cash inflows from investing activities. The cash payments for 
premiums on corporate-owned policies may be classified as cash outflows for investing 
activities, operating activities, or a combination of investing and operating activities. 

 
Issue 6:  Distributions Received from Equity Method Investees 
 

When a reporting entity applies the equity method, it should make an accounting policy 
election to classify distributions received from equity method investees using either of the 
following approaches: 

 
1. Cumulative earnings approach: Distributions received are considered returns on 

investment and therefore are classified as inflows from operating activities.  
However, if the cumulative distributions received less distributions received in prior 
periods that were determined to be returns of investment exceed cumulative equity in 
earnings recognized by the investor, the excess is considered to be a return of 
investment and is classified as cash inflows from investing activities. 
 

2. Nature of the distribution approach: Distributions received should be classified on 
the basis of the nature of the activity or activities of the investee that generated the 
distribution as either a return on investment (classified as cash inflows from operating 
activities) or a return of investment (classified as cash inflows from investing 
activities) when such information is available to the investor.  

 
If an entity elects to apply the nature of the distribution approach and the information to 
apply that approach to distributions received from an individual equity method investee is 
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not available to the investor, the entity must apply the cumulative earnings approach, and 
report a change in accounting principle on a retrospective basis.  The entity must disclose 
that a change in accounting principle has occurred due to the lack of available 
information and should provide the disclosures required in paragraphs 250-10-50-1(b) 
and 250-10-50-2, as applicable.  
This amendment does not address equity method investments measured using the fair 
value option. 

 
 
Issue 7: Beneficial Interests in Securitization Transactions 
 
 A transferor’s beneficial interest received in a securitization of financial assets should be 

disclosed as a noncash activity.  Subsequent cash receipts from payments on a beneficial 
interest in securitized trade receivables should be classified as cash inflows from 
investing activities. 

 
Issue 8:  Separately Identifiable Cash Flows and Application of the Predominance Principle 
 

For cash receipts and payments that have aspects of more than one class of cash flows, 
the following three step approach should be followed. 
 
1. An entity should first apply specific guidance in generally accepted accounting 

principles. 
 

2. If there is no specific guidance, an entity should determine each separately 
identifiable source or use within the cash receipts and cash payments on the basis of 
the nature of the underlying cash flows.  Each separately identifiable source or use 
will then be classified as operating, investing or financing by applying the guidance in 
ASC 230. 
 

3. In situations in which cash receipts and payments cannot be separated by source or 
use, the appropriate classification should depend on the activity that is likely to be the 
predominant source or use of cash flows for the item. 

 
What is the effective date of this standard? 

This standard is effective for public entities for fiscal years beginning after 12/15/17, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years.  For all other entities, it is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2019.  Earlier application is permitted.  The amendments should be applied retrospectively to all 
periods presented. 
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ASU 2016-18- Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): 
Restricted Cash 

Why was this standard issued? 

Diversity in practices existed in the classification and presentation of changes in restricted cash 
on the statement of cash flows. Entities classify transfers between cash and unrestricted cash as 
operating, investing, and financing, or as a combination of those activities on the statement of 
cash flows. In addition, some consider such transfers as cash inflows and cash flows, whereas 
others disclose those cash flows as noncash investing or financing activities. This update was 
issued to harmonize treatment of such transfers on the statement of cash flows. 
 
Who is affected by this standard? 

This update applies to all entities that have restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents and are 
required to present a statement of cash flows. 
 
What are the main provisions of this standard? 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents should be considered as part of unrestricted cash and cash 
equivalents. Therefore, transfers between restricted and unrestricted cash should no longer be 
classified in any of the three categories. 
 
What is the effective date of this standard? 

 
This update is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years. 
 
For all other entities, this update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, 
and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019. 
 
Early adoption is permitted, including for interim periods. A retrospective transition method 
should be applied for each period presented. 
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ASU 2017-01: Clarifying the Definition of a Business 
(Topic 805)  

 
Why was this standard issued? 

There was diversity in practice in determining when the purchase or sale of a group of assets 
constituted a business because the definition of a business in FASB ASC 805, Business 
Combinations, was too broad.  This led to differences in accounting for purchase or sales 
transactions and the subsequent accounting for those transactions. This update is meant to 
provide a framework to assist entities in evaluating whether they have acquired or sold a 
business. 
 
 
Who is affected by this standard? 

This update affects all reporting entities that must determine whether they have acquired or sold 
a business. 
 
What are the main provisions of this standard? 

Current guidance in FASB ASC 805 provides for three elements of a business: 
 Inputs 
 Processes 
 Outputs 

Typically, an integrated set of assets and activities (“a set”) that constitute a business usually has 
outputs.   However, outputs are not required to be present. In addition, not all of the inputs and 
processes used by a seller need to be included in the set if the purchaser can separately obtain or 
already has those inputs and processes or can produce outputs without them. 
 
This update provides an additional step (the screen) in the evaluation process to determine when 
a set is not a business. When substantially all of the fair value of the set of the gross assets 
acquired (or disposed of) is concentrated in a single identifiable asset, or a group of similar 
identifiable assets, the set is not a business. 
 
If the screen is not met, the update requires that, in order for the set to be considered a business, 
the set must include, at a minimum, an input and substantive process that together significantly 
contribute to the ability to create an output. 
 
In addition, this update removes the evaluation of whether a market participant could replace the 
missing elements and narrows the definition of “output” so that it aligns with FASB ASC 606, 
Revenue Recognition. 
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What is the effective date of this standard? 

This update is effective for public business entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, 
including interim periods within those periods. 
 
For all other entities, this update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and 
interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. 
 
This update should be applied prospectively. No disclosures are required at transition. Early application is 
permitted in certain circumstances. 
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ASU 2017- 04:  Simplifying the Goodwill Impairment 
Test 

 
Why was this standard issued? 

The objective of this Update is to simplify how an entity is required to test goodwill for 
impairment by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test.   
 
 
Who is affected by this standard? 

The amendments in this Update are required for public business entities and other entities that 
have goodwill reported in their financial statements and have not elected the private company 
alternative for the subsequent measurement of goodwill. 
 
What are the main provisions of this standard? 

To simplify the subsequent measurement of goodwill, the Board eliminated Step 2 from the 
goodwill impairment test. In computing the implied fair value of goodwill under Step 2, an entity 
had to perform procedures to determine the fair value at the impairment testing date of its assets 
and liabilities (including unrecognized assets and liabilities) following the procedure that would 
be required in determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business 
combination. Instead, under the amendments in this Update, an entity should perform its 
goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying 
amount. An entity should recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying 
amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss recognized should not exceed 
the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.  
 
The Board also eliminated the requirements for any reporting unit with a zero or negative 
carrying amount to perform a qualitative assessment and, if it fails that qualitative test, to 
perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. Therefore, the same impairment assessment 
applies to all reporting units. An entity is required to disclose the amount of goodwill allocated to 
each reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount of net assets. An entity still has the 
option to perform the qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if the quantitative 
impairment test is necessary. 
 

 
What is the effective date of this standard? 

For public business entities that are SEC filers, the amendment should be adopted for goodwill 
impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. 
 
For public business entities that are not SEC filers, the amendment should be adopted for 
goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. 
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All other entities should do so for their goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2021. 
 
Early adoption is permitted for goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after 
January 1, 2017.  Amendments should be applied on a prospective basis.    
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ASU 2017- 07:  Presentation of Net Periodic Pension 
Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost 

 
Why was this standard issued? 

This Update was issued to improve the reporting of net benefit cost in the financial statement to 
provide additional transparency to users. 
 
 
Who is affected by this standard? 

The amendments in this Update apply to all employers, including not-for-profit entities, that 
offer to their employees defined benefit pension plans, other postretirement benefit plans, or 
other types of benefits accounted for under Topic 715. 
 
What are the main provisions of this standard? 

The amendments in this Update require that an employer disaggregate the service cost 
component from the other components of net benefit cost. The amendments also provide explicit 
guidance on how to present the service cost component and the other components of net benefit 
cost in the income statement and allow only the service cost component of net benefit cost to be 
eligible for capitalization. 
 
An employer is now required to report the service cost component in the same line item or items 
as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees during the 
period. The other components of net benefit cost are required to be presented in the income 
statement separately from the service cost component and outside a subtotal of income from 
operations, if one is presented. If a separate line item or items are used to present the other 
components of net benefit cost, that line item or items must be appropriately described. If a 
separate line item or items are not used, the line item or items used in the income statement to 
present the other components of net benefit cost must be disclosed. 
 
The amendments in this Update also allow only the service cost component to be eligible for 
capitalization when applicable (for example, as a cost of internally manufactured inventory or a 
self-constructed asset). 
 
 
What is the effective date of this standard? 

The amendments in this Update are effective for public business entities for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those annual periods 
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For other entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2018, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 
2019. 
 
Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of an annual period for which financial 
statements (interim or annual) have not been issued or made available for issuance 
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ASU 2017-12:  Derivatives and Hedging: Targeted 
Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities 

 
Why was this standard issued? 

This is part of the Financial Instruments Project.  It is designed to better align the accounting 
results to the economic results of hedging activities.  Reported results should help financial 
statement users better understand an entity’s risk exposure and how hedging strategies are used 
to manage those exposures.   
 
Who is affected by this standard? 

Any entity that elects to apply hedge accounting in accordance with GAAP will be affected. 
 
What are the main provisions of this standard? 

While this Update makes significant changes to the hedge accounting model making it easier to 
achieve hedge accounting, the following key aspects have not changed: 
 

 The “highly effective” threshold for qualifying hedging relationships. 
 The ability to voluntarily de-designate a hedging relationship 
 The ability to apply the shortcut method 
 The ability to designate certain component risks as the hedged risk 
 The concepts for hedges of fixed-rate financial instruments (i.e., FV hedges) 
 The required timing for preparation of hedge documentation 
 Most of the disclosure requirements 

 
 
Risk Component Hedging 
 
 
The amendments in this Update permit hedge accounting for risk components in hedging 
relationships involving nonfinancial risk and interest rate risk as follows: 
 

1. Forecasted purchase or sale:   An entity is now allowed to designate as the hedged 
risk the variability in cash flows attributable to changes in a contractually specified 
component stated in the contract. The amendments remove the requirement in 
current GAAP that only the overall variability in cash flows or variability related to 
foreign currency risk could be designated as the hedged risk in a cash flow hedge of 
a nonfinancial asset. 
 

2. Cash flow hedge of interest rate risk of a variable-rate financial instrument:  An 
entity could designate as the hedged risk the variability in  cash flows attributable to 
the contractually specified interest rate.  By eliminating the concept of benchmark 
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interest rates for hedges of variable-rate instruments in current GAAP, the 
amendments remove the requirement to designate only the overall variability in cash 
flows as the hedged risk in a cash flow hedge of a variable-rate instrument indexed 
to a nonbenchmark interest rate.  
 

3. Fair value hedge of interest rate risk:  The Update add the Securities Industry and 
Financial Markets Association Municipal Swap Rate as an eligible benchmark 
interest rate in the United States in addition to those already permitted under current 
GAAP (the U.S. Treasury Rate, the London Interbank Offered Rate Swap Rate, and 
the Fed Funds Effective Swap Rate).  

 
Accounting for Hedged Item in FV Hedges of Interest Rate Risk 
 
Current GAAP contains limitations on how an entity can designate the hedged item in a fair 
value hedge of interest rate risk or on how an entity can measure changes in fair value of the 
hedged item attributable to interest rate risk in certain fair value hedging relationships. Those 
limitations may not align with an entity’s risk management strategies or the way in which 
interest rate risk can be hedged in the cash flow hedging model. 
 
This Update does the following: 
 

1. Permits an entity to measure the change in fair value of the hedged item on the basis of 
the benchmark rate component of the contractual coupon cash flows determined at hedge 
inception, rather than on the full contractual coupon cash flows as required by current 
GAAP. 
 

2. Permits an entity to measure the hedged item in a partial-term fair value hedge of interest 
rate risk by assuming the hedged item has a term that reflects only the designated cash 
flows being hedged. Current GAAP does not allow this methodology when calculating 
the change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to interest rate risk.  

 
3. For prepayable financial instruments, permits an entity to consider only how changes in 

the benchmark interest rate affect a decision to settle a debt instrument before its 
scheduled maturity in calculating the change in the fair value of the hedged item 
attributable to interest rate risk.  
 

4. For a closed portfolio of prepayable financial assets, permits an entity to designate an 
amount that is not expected to be affected by prepayments, defaults, and other events 
affecting the timing and amount of cash flows (the “last-of-layer” method). Under this 
designation, prepayment risk is not incorporated into the measurement of the hedged 
item.  
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Recognition and Presentation of the Effects of Hedging Instruments 
 
There is no longer a requirement to separately recognized periodic hedge ineffectiveness 
separately.  Recording the impact of both the effective and ineffective components of a hedging 
relationship in the same reporting period and in the same income statement line will make the 
entity’s risk management activities and their effect on the financial statements more transparent. 
 
However, the FASB determined that presentation for “missed forecasts” should not be 
prescribed.  Therefore, if an entity determines that is it probable that a hedged forecasted 
transaction will not occur will not be required to record the amounts reclassified out of 
accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) into earnings in the same income statement 
line that would have been affected by the forecasted transaction. 
 
For excluded components in hedges (such as the time value of options or certain components of 
currency swaps), the base recognition model is an amortization approach.  An entity may elect to 
record changes in the fair value of the excluded component currently in earnings.  Note that this 
election will need to be applied consistently to similar hedges.   
 
Hedge Effectiveness Assessments and Documentation 
 
An entity is required to perform an initial prospective quantitative hedge effectiveness 
assessment by using either a dollar offset test or a statistical method unless the relationship 
qualifies for application of the shortcut method or critical-terms-match method.  If an entity 
proves effectiveness initially, and can reasonably support an expectation of high effectiveness on 
a qualitative basis in subsequent periods, the entity may elect to do subsequent effectiveness 
assessments qualitatively.  To do so, the initial hedge documentation must specify how the 
assessment will be performed. 
 
Disclosures 
 
 No longer required to disclose amounts of hedge ineffectiveness 
 Add tabular disclosure about the amounts reported in the income statement for each line 

item affected by hedging and the effect of hedging on those line items 
 Add tabular disclosure of the carrying amounts and cumulative basis adjustments of 

hedged items in fair value hedges.   
 
Transition 
 
For cash flow and net investment hedges existing at the date of adoption, an entity shall apply a 
cumulative-effect adjustment related to eliminating the separate measurement of ineffectiveness 
to accumulated other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the opening 
balance of retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year that an entity adopts the 
amendments in this Update.  
 
The amended presentation and disclosure guidance is required only prospectively. 
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What is the effective date of this standard? 

The amendments in this Update are effective for public business entities for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those annual periods 
 
For other entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2019, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 
2020. 
 
Early adoption is permitted in any interim period after the issuance of the Update. 
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FASB No. ASU 2018-02, Income Statement—Reporting 
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reclassification 
of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated 
Comprehensive Income 

Why was this ASU issued? 

Congress passed the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act bill on December 22, 2017, which resulted in a 
significant lowering of the corporate tax rate from a graduated structure to a flat tax of 21 
percent. Because most companies had used an expected tax rate of 34 percent in determining 
deferred tax assets and liabilities, the significant change in the corporate tax rate may have a 
significant impact on these estimates for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

For items that flow through comprehensive income, the impact of deferred taxes is netted against 
the related gain or loss. However, GAAP dictates that the change in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities arising from changes in enacted rates be recognized in current earnings, not 
comprehensive income. Stakeholders informed FASB that this may cause misleading reporting 
because the original tax impact was recognized in other comprehensive income, not current 
earnings (commonly referred to as stranded tax effects). 

Who is affected by this ASU? 

Any entity that has both of the following presented in the financial statements: 

a. Deferred tax assets or liabilities (typically a “C” corporation). 
b. Elements of Other Comprehensive Income presented in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income that had a book /tax timing difference that had been recognized in a related deferred tax 
asset or liability. 
 

What are the main provisions of this ASU? 

This update allows a reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained 
earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. This is not a 
mandatory reclassification, but an election. 
An entity that elects to use this provision must disclose the following: 
 A statement that an election was made to reclassify the income tax effects of the Tax Cuts 

and Jobs Act from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings. 
 A description of other income tax effects related to the application of Tax Cuts and Jobs Act 

that are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings, if 
any. 

An entity that does not make an election under this standard shall disclose in the period of 
adoption, a statement than an election was not made to reclassify the income tax effects of the 
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings. 
Note that this is a one-time provision and does not change the accounting for future potential 
changes in tax rates. 
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When will this ASU be effective? 

This amendment is effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 
and for interim periods within those fiscal years. 
 
The amendments should be applied either in the periods of adoption or retrospectively to each 
period in which the effect of the change in the U.S. federal corporate tax rate in the Tax Cuts and 
Jobs Act is recognized. 
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FASB No. ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement 
(Topic 820): Disclosure Framework-Changes to the 
Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement 

Why was this ASU Issued? 

The Board issued the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting-Chapter 8: Notes to 
Financial Statements on August 28, 2018.  This Conceptual Framework Statement was the 
result of a project started by the FASB on March 4, 2014 that was intended to develop a 
framework for providing more useful and informative disclosures to users of financial 
statements.  This Statement will be used by the FASB in developing disclosure requirements in 
future updates, as well as evaluating existing disclosure requirements. This particular ASU was 
the results of the FASB running a “test” implementation of this concepts statement on the 
existing disclosure requirements for fair value.  

Who is affected by this ASU? 

Any entity that measures either assets or liabilities on a recurring or non-recurring basis at fair 
value is affected by this update.  Because this update does not impact what assets or liabilities 
should be measured at fair value, all entities currently disclosing fair value measurements will be 
affected by this update, along with any entity that is required to measure assets or liabilities at 
fair value for the first time. 
 
What are the main provisions of this ASU? 

The following disclosure requirements will no longer be required upon adoption of this 
standard: 

 The amount and reasons for transfers between level 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy 

 The policy for timing of transfers between levels 

 The valuation processes for Level 3 fair value measurements 

 For nonpublic entities, the changes in unrealized gains and losses for the period included 
in earnings for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements held at the end of the reporting 
period. 

  



 

 AS - 34 

The following disclosure requirements were modified upon adoption of this standard: 
 In lieu of a rollforward for Level 3 fair value measurements, a nonpublic entity will be 

required to disclose the following: 
o Transfers in and out of Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 
o Purchases and issues of Level 3 assets and liabilities 

 For investments in an investee that calculates net asset value, an entity is required to 
disclose the timing of liquidation of an investee’s assets and the date when restrictions 
from redemption might lapse.  This is required only if the investee has communicated the 
timing to the entity or publicly announced the timing. 

 Any disclosure related to measurement uncertainty is to communicate information about 
the uncertainty in measurement as of the reporting date (as opposed to the date of 
issuance of the financial statements) 

 
The following disclosures requirements were added: 

 The changes in unrealized gains and losses for the period included in other 
comprehensive income for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements held at the end of 
the reporting period. 

 The range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 
3 fair value measurements.  For certain unobservable inputs, an entity may disclose other 
quantitative information in lieu of the weighted average if the entity determines that other 
quantitative information would be a more reasonable and rational method to reflect the 
distribution of unobservable inputs used to develop the Level 3 fair value measurements. 

 
In addition to the above modifications, the Code was updated to include the phrase “at a 
minimum” for all required disclosures related to fair value.  
 

When will this ASU be effective? 

This standard is effective for all entities for fiscal and interim periods beginning after December 
15, 2019.  The amendments should be applied retrospectively with the exception of the 
disclosure requirements that were added.  Those requirements should be applied on the 
prospective basis. 
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FASB ASU 2018-14, Compensation-Retirement 
Benefits-Defined Benefit Plans-General (Subtopic 715-
20): Disclosure Framework-Changes to the Disclosure 
Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans 

Why was this ASU issued? 

This standard is the result of the FASB finalizing the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting-Chapter 8:Notes to Financial Statements on August 28, 2018.  Using this framework, 
the Board issued ASU 2018-14 to improve the effectiveness of the disclosures for Defined 
Benefit Plans. 
 
Who is affected by this ASU? 

This update effects all employers that sponsor defined benefit pension or other postretirement 
plans.  Note that these requirements are for the sponsors of plans, not the plans themselves. 
 
What are the main provisions of this ASU? 

Disclosure requirements that were added as a result of this update: 
 The weighted-average interest crediting rates for cash balance plans and other plans with 

promised interest crediting rates 

 An explanation of the reasons for significant gains and losses related to changes in the 
benefit obligation for the period 

 Nonpublic entities will be required to disclose the amounts of transfers in and out of 
Level 3 fair value measurements and purchases of Level 3 plan assets. 

 

Disclosure requirements that are clarified as a result of this update: 

 The projected benefit obligation (PBO) and fair value of plan assets for plans with PBO’s 
in excess of plan assets 

 The accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) and fair value of plan assets for plans with 
ABO’s in excess of plan assets 

Disclosure requirements that were removed as a result of this update: 
 The amounts in Accumulated Comprehensive Income expected to be recognized as 

components of net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year 

 The amount and timing of plan assets expected to be returned to the employer 

 The disclosures related to the June 2001 amendments to the Japanese Welfare Pension 
Insurance Law 
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 Related party disclosures about the amount of future annual benefits covered by 
insurance and annuity contracts 

 Significant transactions between the employer or related parties and the plan 

 For nonpublic entities, the reconciliation of opening and closing balances of plan assets 
measured using Level 3 recurring fair value measurements 

 For public entities, the effects of a one-percentage-point change in the assumed health 
care cost trend rates 

 
When will this ASU be effective? 

Public business entities – fiscal years ending after December 15, 2020 
All other business entities – fiscal years ending after December 15, 2010 
 
Early adoption is permitted for all entities 
 
The amendments should be adopted on a retrospective basis 
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FASB ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-
Internal Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s 
Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a 
Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service 
Contract 

Why was this ASU issued? 

The FASB issued ASU 2015-05 to provide guidance on fees paid to an entity for cloud based 
computing arrangements. That guidance provided that if a license was issued as a result of the 
transactions, the fees paid should be recorded as an intangible asset (with a resulting liability 
recorded) and accounted for in accordance with Subtopic 350-40.  Any other fees paid would be 
considered a service contract and expensed as incurred.  Stakeholders have requested additional 
guidance on fees paid in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract because the 
Codification was largely silent on the issue and diversity in practice had developed. 

Who is affected by this ASU? 

Any entity that incurs upfront costs (implementation, setup, and other costs) in procuring a 
hosting arrangement that is determined to be a service contract. 
 
What are the main provisions of this ASU? 

Measurement issues 
An entity shall follow the guidance in ASC 350-40 in determining which upfront costs shall be 
capitalized as an asset related to the service contract, with all other costs being expensed.  The 
guidance requires an entity to determine which of the following phases of implementation the 
costs are incurred: 

 Preliminary project stage - Expensed 

 Application development stage – Capitalized, depending on the nature of the cost 

 Postimplementation stage – Expensed 
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Any application development stage costs that are capitalized are required to be amortized over 
the term of the hosting arrangement.  This term includes the noncancelable period of the 
arrangement plus periods covered by: 

 An option to extend the arrangement if it is reasonable that the option will be exercised 

 An option to terminate the agreement if it is not reasonably certain that the termination 
option will be exercised 

 An option to extend (or not terminate) the arrangement in which the option is in control 
of the vendor 

 
Any capitalized costs will also be subject to the impairment guidance in ASC 350-40 if the costs 
are long-lived assets. 

Presentation issues 
The capitalized costs shall be presented in the statement of financial position in the same line 
item that a prepayment of fees for the associated hosting arrangement would be presented. 
The expense related to the amortization of the capitalized costs are required to be presented in 
the same line item in the statement of income as the fees associated with the hosting 
arrangement. 
The payments for capitalized implementation costs will be classified in the same manner as 
payments for the hosting arrangement in the statement of cash flows.  In most cases, this will be 
an operating activity. 
 
When will this ASU be effective? 

Public companies 
 Fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those years 
All other entities 
 Fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 and interim periods beginning after 
December 15, 2021 
Early adoption is permitted 
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FASB ASU 2018-17, Consolidation Topic 810: 
Targeted Improvements to Related Party Guidance for 
Variable Interest Entities 

 
Why was this ASU Issued? 

The Private Company Council (PCC) identified potential improvements to financial reporting by 
further reducing the requirement that certain entities consolidate variable interest entities. 
Currently, entities that have certain common control leasing arrangements are exempt from 
consolidation. The PCC believed that this exemption should apply to all variable interest entities 
if both the primary beneficiary and the variable interest entity are not public companies.   
 

Who is affected by this ASU? 

This amendment affects all entities that must evaluate whether they should consolidate a legal 
entity as a variable interest entity except for public entities, non-for-profit entities, and employee 
benefit plans 
 
What are the main provisions of this ASU? 

Election to not recognize certain VIEs (Private Company Council Alternative) 
A private entity may elect to not apply VIE guidance to legal entities under common control if 
both the parent and the legal entity being evaluated for consolidation are not public business 
entities. 
 
This alternative allows for an election to be made that will apply to all current and future legal 
entities under common control that meet the criteria for applying this alternative. Note – this 
election applies only to the VIE guidance.  Other factors may still cause an entity to 
consolidate a subsidiary such as the voting interest criteria. 
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An entity that elects this guidance will be required to provide detailed disclosures about its 
involvement with the legal entity under common control, and exposure to liabilities as follows: 

 The nature and risks associated with a reporting entity’s involvement with the legal entity 
under common control. 

 How a reporting entity’s involvement with the legal entity under common control affects 
the reporting entity’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. 

 The carrying amounts an classification of the assets and liabilities in the reporting entity’s 
statement of financial position resulting from its involvement with the legal entity under 
common control 

 The reporting entity’s maximum exposure to loss resulting from its involvement with the 
legal entity under common control.  If the amount cannot be quantified, that fact shall be 
disclosed. 

o If the maximum exposure to loss exceeds the net carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities reported in item #3, the disclosures shall include information that will 
allow users to understand the excess exposure. This information shall include, but 
is not limited to: 
 Terms of arrangements, both implicit and explicit, that could require the 

reporting entity to provide financial support. 
 Events and circumstances that could expose the reporting entity to a loss 

 
ASC 810-10-50-2A1 explicitly states that the disclosures required under this guidance 
should not be included with other disclosures such as related party or guarantees, or cross-
referenced to such disclosures.  Therefore, an entity shall be required to have separate 
disclosure of all required items. 
 
When will this ASU be effective? 

For private companies, this update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2020 and interim periods for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. 
Early adoption is permitted. 

Transition 
All entities are required to apply the amendments in this Update retrospectively with a 
cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings at the beginning of the earliest period 
presented. 
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Module RR 

Revenue Recognition 

In May, 2014, the FASB and the IASB completed their joint project on revenue recognition.  The 
FASB issued ASU 2014-09 (Revenue from Contracts with Customers) primarily to clarify the 
principles for recognizing revenue.   Prior to the issuance of this standard, in U.S. GAAP, 
revenue recognition guidance comprises more than a hundred standards – many are industry-
specific and some can produce conflicting results for economically similar transactions. In 
IFRSs, the principles underlying the two main revenue recognition standards (IAS 18, Revenue, 
and IAS 11, Construction Contracts) were inconsistent and vague, and could be difficult to apply 
beyond simple transactions. In particular, those standards provided limited guidance for 
transactions involving multiple components or multiple deliverables. 
 
The goals of this joint project were to: 
 

a. Remove inconsistencies and weaknesses in existing revenue recognition standards and 
practices; 

 
b. Provide a more robust framework for addressing revenue recognition issues; 
 
c. Improve comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities, industries, 

jurisdictions, and capital markets; 
 
d. Provide more useful information to users of financial statements through improved 

disclosure requirements; and 
 
e. Simplify the preparation of financial statements by reducing the number of requirements 

to which entities must refer. 
 
The Boards published a Discussion Paper, Preliminary Views on Revenue Recognition in 
Contracts with Customers for public comment on December 19, 2008. This Discussion Paper 
invited comments on the Boards’ preliminary views on a single, contract-based revenue 
recognition model and is briefly re-capped below. 
 
On June 24, 2010, the Boards published an Exposure Draft, Revenues from Contracts with 
Customers.  The comment period ended October 22, 2010.  The Boards deliberated for 
approximately one year, and then decided to re-expose the standard based on the changes that 
were to be made. 
 
On November 14, 2011, the Boards published a revised exposure draft, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers, and then issued an amended exposure draft on January 4, 2012.  The deadline 
for comments on both of these exposure drafts was March 13, 2012.  The final standard was 
issued in May, 2014. 
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Scope (606-10-15-2) 

The standard will apply to an entity's contracts with customers, except for the following: 
  
 Lease contracts within the scope of FASB ASC 840, Leases  

 Insurance contracts within the scope of FASB ASC 944, Financial Services—Insurance  

 Financial instruments or other contractual rights or obligations within the scope of the 
following topics: 

1. Topic 310, Receivables  
2. Topic 320, Investments—Debt and Equity Securities  
3. Topic 323, Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures  
4. Topic 325, Investments—Other  
5. Topic 405, Liabilities  
6. Topic 470, Debt  
7. Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging  
8. Topic 825, Financial Instruments  
9. Topic 860, Transfers and Servicing.  

 Guarantees (other than product warranties) within the scope of FASB ASC 460, 
Guarantees,  

 Nonmonetary exchanges between entities in the same line of business to facilitate sales to 
customers or potential customers. 

 
Contract-Based Revenue Recognition Principle 

This topic specifies the accounting for revenue with contracts from customers. 
 
Principal versus Agent Considerations (ASU 2016-08) 

The FASB has issued guidance to assist an entity in determining whether it is a principal or an 
agent in the delivery of goods or services.  If the entity is a principal, it will recognize all of the 
revenue associated with the good or service in accordance with ASC 606.  It the entity is an 
agent, it will only recognize as revenue the commission or fee received for facilitating the 
delivery of goods or services in accordance with ASC 606. 
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Process 

The process for determining when to recognize revenue can be broken into five steps: 
 

1. Identify contracts with the customer. 
2. Identify separate performance obligations within the contract. 
3. Determine the transaction price. 
4. Allocate the transaction price to the various performance obligations. 
5. Recognize revenue when the performance obligations are satisfied. 

 

Identify Contracts with the Customer (606-10-25-1) 

A contract is an agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and 
obligations. 
 
 A contract with a customer does not have to be a written contract.  It can also be a verbal 

or implied contract.   

 The parties to a contract must have approved the contract and are committed to 
performing their respective obligations.   
 

 The reporting entity must be able to identify each party’s rights as they relate to the goods 
or services being transferred. 
 

 The reporting entity must be able to identify the payment terms for the goods or services 
to be transferred. 
 

 A contract must have commercial substance.  That is, the risk, timing or amount of the 
entity’s future cash flows is expected to change as a result of the contract.   
 

 It is probable that the entity will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled. 
 
Combination of Contracts 
 
An entity shall combine two or more contracts entered into at or near the same time with the 
same customer (or related parties of the customer) and account for the contracts as a single 
contract if one or more of the following criteria are met:  
 

a. The contracts are negotiated as a package with a single commercial objective.  
b. The amount of consideration to be paid in one contract depends on the price or 

performance of the other contract.  
c. The goods or services promised in the contracts (or some goods or services promised 

in each of the contracts) are a single performance obligation. 
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Contract Modifications 
 
A contract modification is a change in the scope or price (or both) of a contract that is approved 
by the parties to the contract. 
 
An entity shall account for a contract modification as a separate contract if both of the following 
conditions are present:   
 

a. The scope of the contract increases because of the addition of promised goods or 
services that are distinct.  

b.  The price of the contract increases by an amount of consideration that reflects the 
entity’s standalone selling prices of the additional promised goods or services and any 
appropriate adjustments to that price to reflect the circumstances of the particular 
contract.  

 
Identification of Separate Performance Obligations (606-10-25-14) 

Management must evaluate all contracts to determine if there is a single performance obligation, 
or if the contract consists of separate performance obligations.  The first question to be asked is 
 

 Are there multiple goods or services promised in the contract? 
o If so, do the promised goods or services transfer at the same time? 

 
If there are not multiple goods and services, or if they transfer all at the same 
time, treat the contract as a single performance obligation. 
 

 If there are multiple obligations, determine if the good or service is distinct. 
 

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the 
following criteria are met:  

  a.  The customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or 
together with other resources that are readily available to the customer (that 
is, the good or service is capable of being distinct).  

  b.  The entity’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is 
separately identifiable from other promises in the contract.  
 

If the goods or services are distinct, account for them as a separate performance obligations.  If 
not, combine until two or more are distinct. 
 

FASB ASU No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): 
Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing 

This update was issued in April 2016 to reduce potential for diversity in practice at initial 
application of ASC 606, as well as the cost and complexity of applying ASC 606 at transition 
and on an ongoing basis.   
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When identifying promised goods and services in a contract, this updates states that entities 
 Are not required to assess whether promised goods or services are performance obligations if 

they are immaterial to the contract. 
 Can elect to account for shipping and handling activities as an activity to fulfill promises 

within the contract rather than as an additional promised service. 
 

When assessing whether promised goods or services are distinct, this update emphasizes the need 
to determine whether the nature of the promise is to transfer 
 
 Each of the goods or services, or 
 A combined item (or items) to which the promised goods or services are inputs. 
 
 
With regards to licensing, ASU No. 2016-10 clarifies whether revenue should be recognized at a 
point in time or over time, based on whether the license provides a right to use an entity’s 
intellectual property or a right to access the entity’s intellectual property.  Specifically, 
 
 If the intellectual property has significant standalone functionality, the license does not 

include supporting or maintaining that intellectual property during the license period.  
Therefore, the performance obligation would be considered satisfied at a point in time.  
Examples of this type of intellectual property include software, biological compounds or 
drug formulas, and media. 
 

 Licenses for symbolic intellectual property include supporting or maintaining that intellectual 
property during the license period, and are therefore considered to be satisfied over time.  
Examples of symbolic intellectual property include brands, team or trade names, logos, and 
franchise rights. 
 

 
Determine the Transaction Price (606-10-32-2) 

The entity should estimate the transaction price by considering the effect of variable 
consideration, the existence of a significant financing component in the contract, non-cash 
consideration, and consideration payable to the customer.   
 
In a change from the original exposure draft, the variable component can be estimated using 
either the probability-weighted approach (expected value) or an approach based on the single 
most likely amount, whichever is more predictive.  The original ED required the expected value 
method, which is usually more difficult to apply. 
 
An entity should not adjust the transaction price for doubt about collectibility.  If there are doubts 
about collectibility, they should be considered in the impairment of the receivable, not in the 
recognition of revenue. (Note that this assumes that collection is probable, and therefore the 
basic criteria for recognizing revenue is met). 
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The objective when adjusting the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing 
component is for an entity to recognize revenue at an amount that reflects the price that a 
customer would have paid for the promised goods or services if the customer had paid cash for 
those goods or services when they transfer to the customer (that is, the cash selling price). An 
entity shall consider all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether a contract contains 
a financing component and whether that financing component is significant to the contract, 
including both of the following:  
 

a.  The difference, if any, between the amount of promised consideration and the cash 
selling price of the promised goods or services.  

b.  The combined effect of both of the following:  
1.  The expected length of time between when the entity transfers the promised goods 

or services to the customer and when the customer pays for those goods or 
services.  

2.  The prevailing interest rates in the relevant market.  
 
As a practical expedient, if the entity expects that the period between delivery of the goods and 
services and payment is one year or less, the “financing component” does not need to be 
considered. 
 
Any noncash consideration should be measured at fair value.   
 
Consideration payable to a customer includes cash amounts that an entity pays to the customer 
(or to other parties that purchase the entity’s goods or services from the customer). Consideration 
payable to a customer also includes credit or other items (for example, a coupon or voucher) that 
can be applied against amounts owed to the entity (or to other parties that purchase the entity’s 
goods or services from the customer). An entity shall account for consideration payable to a 
customer as a reduction of the transaction price and, therefore, of revenue unless the payment to 
the customer is in exchange for a distinct good or service that the customer transfers to the entity 
 
Allocating the Transaction Price (606-10-32-28-41) 

When a contract contains more than one separate performance obligation, contract consideration 
should be allocated to the separate obligations in a systematic manner.  The most common 
method will be based on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.  If the good or service is not 
sold separately, the entity must estimate the separate price using observable inputs (whenever 
possible).  Estimation methods might include: 
 

 Cost plus margin 
 Adjusted market assessment 
 Residual value (when the selling price is highly variable or uncertain 
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Satisfaction of Performance Obligations (606-10-25-23) 

Revenue is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied by transferring goods or 
services (that is, an asset) to a customer.  An asset is transferred when the customer obtains 
control of that asset. 
 
An entity must first determine if the control of the goods or services are transferred over time. 
(606-10-25-27) 
 
A performance obligation is considered to be transferred over time when at least one of the 
following criteria is met: 
 
1) The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as the entity performs. 

 
2) The entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset 

is created or enhanced, or 
 

3) The asset created has no alternative use to the reporting entity, AND the entity has a right to 
payment for performance completed to date. 
 
An asset does not have an alternative use to an entity if the entity is either restricted 
contractually from readily directing the asset for another use during the creation or 
enhancement of that asset or limited practically from readily directing the asset in its 
completed state for another use.  

 
If a performance obligation does not meet the criteria to be satisfied over time, it is satisfied at a 
point in time.  That point in time is when control is transferred.  Indicators that control has been 
transferred include, but are not limited to: 
  
 The entity has a present right to payment for the asset. 
 The customer has legal title to the asset. 
 The customer has physical possession of the asset. 
 The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership. 
 The customer has accepted the asset. 

 
When the performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognized by measuring the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation (similar to a “percentage-
of-completion method”). 
 
Appropriate methods of measuring progress include input and output methods. 
 
Output methods include methods such as surveys of performance completed to date, appraisals 
of results achieved, milestones reached, time elapsed, and units produced or units delivered. As a 
practical expedient, if an entity has a right to consideration from a customer in an amount that 
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corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the entity’s performance completed to date 
(for example, a service contract in which an entity bills a fixed amount for each hour of service 
provided), the entity may recognize revenue in the amount to which the entity has a right to 
invoice.  
 
The disadvantages of output methods are that the outputs used to measure progress may not be 
directly observable and the information required to apply them may not be available to an entity 
without undue cost. Therefore, an input method may be necessary. 
 
Input methods recognize revenue on the basis of the entity’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction 
of a performance obligation (for example, resources consumed, labor hours expended, costs 
incurred, time elapsed, or machine hours used) relative to the total expected inputs to the 
satisfaction of that performance obligation. If the entity’s efforts or inputs are expended evenly 
throughout the performance period, it may be appropriate for the entity to recognize revenue on a 
straight-line basis. 
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Transition Guidance 
 
FASB ASU No. 2016-04, liabilities—extinguishments of liabilities 
(Subtopic 405-20): recognition of breakage for certain prepaid stored-
value products 

A potential diversity in accounting practice may exist in situations where a third party issued a 
prepaid product in exchange for cash or other consideration. The value of the product would be 
considered a liability until such time as it was redeemed by the holder of the product. Some 
parties believed this liability would be a financial liability, and others believed it would not be a 
financial liability. 
 
With the issuance of ASU No. 2016-04 in March 2016, the Emerging Issues Task Force 
concluded that this liability is considered a financial liability; however, a narrow scope exception 
is applied so that the guidance in FASB ASC 606 related to breakage (the amount of a prepaid 
product that is unused) would be applicable as opposed to the guidance in FASB ASC 405-20 
(which would apply in the case of financial liabilities). 
 
The effective date of this update corresponds to the effective date of ASU No. 2014-09. These 
amendments should be applied using either a modified retrospective transition method by means 
of a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year in 
which the guidance is effective or retrospectively to each period presented. 

FASB ASU No. 2016-08, revenue from contracts with customers 
(Topic 606): Principal versus agent considerations (reporting revenue 
gross versus net) 
 
This update was issued in March 2016 to clarify the guidance in FASB ASC 606 with respect to 
principal versus agent. There is little disagreement that an entity who is a principal recognizes 
revenue in the gross amount of consideration when a performance obligation is satisfied. An 
entity who is an agent recognizes revenue only to the extent of the commission or fee that the 
agent collects. This update is meant to eliminate the potential diversity in practice when 
determining whether an entity is a principal or an agent by clarifying the following: 
 
 An entity determines whether it is a principal or an agent for each distinct good or service. 
 An entity determines the nature of each specified good or service (including whether it is a 

right to a good or service). 
 When an entity is a principal, it obtains control of 

– a good or another asset from the other party that it then transfers to the customer; 
– a right to a service that will be performed by another party, which gives the entity the 

ability to direct that party to provide the service to the customer on the entity’s behalf; or 
– a good or service from the other party that it combines with other goods or services to 

provide the specified good or service to the customer. 
 Indicators in the assessment of control may be more or less relevant or persuasive to the 

control assessment, depending on the facts and circumstances. 
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Additional illustrative examples are provided in ASU No. 2016-08 to further assist practitioners 
in applying this guidance. The effective date of this update is in line with the guidance in ASU 
No. 2014-09. 
 

FASB ASU No. 2016-10, revenue from contracts with customers 
(Topic 606): Identifying performance obligations and licensing 
 
This update was issued in April 2016 to reduce potential for diversity in practice at initial 
application of FASB ASC 606, as well as the cost and complexity of applying FASB ASC 606 at 
transition and on an ongoing basis.  
When identifying promised goods and services in a contract, this updates states that entities 
 are not required to assess whether promised goods or services are performance obligations if 

they are immaterial to the contract. 
 can elect to account for shipping and handling activities as an activity to fulfill promises 

within the contract rather than as an additional promised service. 

When assessing whether promised goods or services are distinct, this update emphasizes the need 
to determine whether the nature of the promise is to transfer 
 each of the goods or services or 
 a combined item (or items) to which the promised goods or services are inputs. 

With regard to licensing, ASU No. 2016-10 clarifies whether revenue should be recognized at a 
point in time or over time, based on whether the license provides a right to use an entity’s 
intellectual property or a right to access the entity’s intellectual property. Specifically, 
 If the intellectual property has significant stand-alone functionality, the license does not 

include supporting or maintaining that intellectual property during the license period. 
Therefore, the performance obligation would be considered satisfied at a point in time. 
Examples of this type of intellectual property include software, biological compounds or 
drug formulas, and media. 

 Licenses for symbolic intellectual property include supporting or maintaining that intellectual 
property during the license period and are therefore considered to be satisfied over time. 
Examples of symbolic intellectual property include brands, team or trade names, logos, and 
franchise rights. 

Lastly, ASU No. 2016-10 provides clarification of implementation guidance on recognizing 
revenue for a sales-based or usage-based royalty promised in exchange for a license of 
intellectual property.  

The effective date of this update is in line with the guidance in ASU No. 2014-09. 
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FASB ASU 2016-12: Transition Issues 

 
The Transition Resource Group (TRG) discussed several issues relating to the transition 
requirements for adopting the Revenue Recognition Standard.  ASU 2016-12 made the following 
changes: 

Contract Modifications at Transition 

Topic 606 includes two transition methods:  
 

 retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented in accordance with Topic 606  
 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the guidance in Topic 606 

at the date of initial application.  
 

In applying either method, an entity is required to evaluate contract modifications that occurred 
before the beginning of the earliest period presented in accordance with Topic 606. TRG 
members informed the Board that this analysis may be complex and costly in instances in which 
an entity has a significant volume of contract modifications or when the modifications have 
occurred over a long period of time. 
 
The amendments in this Update provide a practical expedient that permits an entity to reflect the 
aggregate effect of all modifications that occur before the beginning of the earliest period 
presented in accordance with Topic 606 when identifying the satisfied and unsatisfied 
performance obligations, determining the transaction price, and allocating the transaction price to 
the satisfied and unsatisfied performance obligations. 
 

Completed Contracts at Transition 

The two transition methods for Topic 606 include practical expedients related to completed 
contracts. The transition guidance in Topic 606 explains that a completed contract is “a contract 
for which the entity has transferred all of the goods or services identified in accordance with 
revenue guidance that  is in effect before the date of initial application.” TRG members informed 
the Board that it is unclear when a contract should be considered “completed” for purposes of 
applying the transition guidance. 
 
The amendments in ASU 2016-12 clarify that a completed contract for purposes of transition is a 
contract for which all (or substantially all) of the revenue was recognized under legacy generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) before the date of initial application.  Accounting for 
elements of a contract that do not affect revenue under legacy GAAP are irrelevant to the 
assessment of whether a contract is complete.  Additionally, this Update permits an entity to 
apply the modified retrospective transition method either to all contracts or only to contracts that 
are not completed contracts. 
 

Transition Disclosures 

An entity that retrospectively applies the guidance in Topic 606 to each prior reporting period is 
required to provide the accounting change disclosures in the period of adoption. Paragraph 250-
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10-50-1(b)(2) requires an entity to disclose current-period financial information in the period of 
adoption under former GAAP. Stakeholders reported that this requirement would significantly 
increase transition costs because an entity would have to account for contracts with customers 
under former GAAP and Topic 606 for one additional year. 
 
The amendments in this Update clarify that an entity that retrospectively applies the guidance in 
Topic 606 to each prior reporting period is not required to disclose the effect of the accounting 
change for the period of adoption. However, an entity is still required to disclose the effect of the 
changes on any prior periods retrospectively adjusted. 
 

FASB ASU 2016-20, Technical Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606  

The Transition Resource Group identified the following issues that can be improved in ASC 606.  
ASU 2016-20 was issued in December 2016 and makes the following amendments to Topic 606.  
These are very narrow scope clarifications for specific situations. 
 
Issue 1:  Loan Guarantee Fees 

Topic 606 specifically identifies a scope exception for guarantees (other than product or service 
warranties) within the scope of Topic 460, Guarantees. Stakeholders indicated that a few 
amendments included in Update 2014-09 are inconsistent on whether fees from financial 
guarantees are within the scope of Topic 606. 
 
The amendments in this Update clarify that guarantee fees within the scope of Topic 460 (other 
than product or service warranties) are not within the scope of Topic 606. Entities should see 
Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, for guarantees accounted for as derivatives. 
 

Issue 2:  Contract Costs – Impairment Testing 
 
Subtopic 340-40, Other Assets and Deferred Costs—Contracts with Customers, includes 
impairment guidance for costs capitalized in accordance with the recognition provisions of that 
Subtopic. Stakeholders raised some questions about the impairment testing of those capitalized 
costs.  
 
The amendments in this Update clarify that when performing impairment testing, an entity 
should (a) consider expected contract renewals and extensions and (b) include both the amount 
of consideration it already has received but has not recognized as revenue and the amount it 
expects to receive in the future. 
 

Issue 3:  Contract Costs – Interaction of Impairment Testing with Guidance in 
Other Topics 
 
Some stakeholders raised questions about the interaction of the impairment testing in Subtopic 
340-40 with guidance in other Topics. 
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The amendments in this Update clarify that impairment testing first should be performed on 
assets not within the scope of Topic 340, Topic 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, or Topic 
360, Property, Plant, and Equipment (such as Topic 330, Inventory), then assets within the scope 
of Topic 340, then asset groups and reporting units within the scope of Topic 360 and Topic 350. 
 

Issue 4: Provisions for Losses on Construction-Type and Production- Type 
Contracts 
 

When issuing Update 2014-09, the Board decided to retain the guidance on the provision for loss 
contracts in Subtopic 605-35, Revenue Recognition—Construction- Type and Production-Type 
Contracts. In the consequential amendments of Update 2014-09, the testing level was changed to 
the performance obligation level (from the segment level). Stakeholders indicated that this 
amendment may require an entity to perform the loss assessment at a lower level than current 
practice. 
 
The amendments in this Update require that the provision for losses be determined at least at the 
contract level. However, the amendments allow an entity to determine the provision for losses at 
the performance obligation level as an accounting policy election. 

Issue 5:  Scope of Topic 606 
 
In Topic 606, a scope exception exists for insurance contracts within the scope of Topic 944, 
Financial Services— Insurance. The Board’s intention was to exclude from Topic 606 all 
contracts that are within the scope of Topic 944, not only insurance contracts (for example, 
investment contracts that do not subject an insurance entity to insurance risk). 
 
The amendments in this Update remove the term insurance from the scope exception to clarify 
that all contracts within the scope of Topic 944 are excluded from the scope of Topic 606. 
 

Issue 6:  Disclosure of Remaining Performance Obligations 
 

Topic 606 requires an entity to disclose information about its remaining performance obligations, 
including the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that 
are unsatisfied as of the end of the reporting period.  Topic 606 also includes optional 
exemptions from that disclosure for contracts with an original duration of one year or less and 
performance obligations in which revenue is recognized in accordance with paragraph 606-10-
55-18. Stakeholders questioned whether the Board intended for an entity to estimate variable 
consideration for disclosure in other circumstances in which an entity is not required to estimate 
variable consideration to recognize revenue. 
 
The amendments in this Update provide optional exemptions from the disclosure requirement for 
remaining performance obligations for specific situations in which an entity need not estimate 
variable consideration to recognize revenue. The amendments in this Update also expand the 
information that is required to be disclosed when an entity applies one of the optional 
exemptions. 
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Issue 7: Disclosure of Prior-Period Performance Obligations 
 

Topic 606 requires an entity to disclose revenue recognized in the reporting period from 
performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods. Stakeholders 
indicated that the placement of the disclosure in the Codification results in confusion about 
whether this disclosure applies only to performance obligations with corresponding contract 
balances or to all performance obligations. 
 
The amendments in this Update clarify that this disclosure applies to all performance obligations. 
 

Issue 8:  Contract Modifications Example 
 
Example 7 in Topic 606 illustrates the application of the guidance on contract modifications. 
Some stakeholders perceived minor inconsistencies with the contract modifications guidance in 
Topic 606. The amendments in this Update better align Example 7 with the principles in Topic 
606. 
 

Issue 9:  Contract Asset vs. Receivable 
 

Example 38, Case B in Topic 606 illustrates the application of the presentation guidance on 
contract assets and receivables. Some stakeholders expressed concern that the example indicates 
that an entity cannot record a receivable before its due date. 
 
The amendments in this Update provide a better link between the analysis in the example and the 
receivables presentation guidance in Topic 606. 
 

Issue 10:  Refund Liability 
 
Example 40 in Topic 606 illustrates the recognition of a receivable and a refund liability. Some 
stakeholders expressed concern that the example indicates that a refund liability should be 
characterized as a contract liability. 
 
The amendment in this Update removes the reference to the term contract liability from the 
journal entry in the example. 
 

Issue 11:  Advertising Costs 
 

ASU 2014-09 supersedes much of the guidance in Subtopic 340-20, Other Assets and Deferred 
Costs— Capitalized Advertising Costs, because it would have conflicted with new cost 
capitalization guidance in Subtopic 340- 40. Therefore, an entity that previously capitalized 
advertising costs in accordance with the guidance in Subtopic 340-20 would apply the 
capitalization guidance in Subtopic 340- 40 upon the adoption of Update 2014- 09. Guidance on 
when to recognize a liability had been included within Subtopic 340-20 and was inadvertently 
superseded by Update 2014-09. 
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The amendments in this Update reinstate the guidance on the accrual of advertising costs and 
also move the guidance to Topic 720, Other Expenses. 
 

Issue 12:  Fixed-Odds Wagering Contracts in the Casino Industry 
 

Subtopic 924-605, Entertainment— Casinos—Revenue Recognition, currently includes explicit 
guidance that identifies fixed-odds wagering as gaming revenue. That industry-specific guidance 
was superseded by Update 2014-09, along with nearly all existing industry-specific revenue 
guidance in GAAP. Therefore, some stakeholders questioned whether fixed-odds wagering 
contracts are within the scope of Topic 606 or, rather, whether they should be accounted for as 
derivatives within the scope of Topic 815. 
 
The amendments in this Update (a) create a new Subtopic 924- 815, Entertainment—Casinos— 
Derivatives and Hedging, which includes a scope exception from derivatives guidance for fixed 
odds wagering contracts and (b) includes a scope exception within Topic 815 for fixed-odds 
wagering contracts issued by casino entities. 
 

Issue 13: Cost Capitalization for Advisors to Private Funds and Public Funds 
 

An amendment included in Update 2014-09 moved cost guidance from Subtopic 946-605, 
Financial Services—Investment Companies—Revenue Recognition, to Subtopic 946-720, 
Financial Services— Investment Companies—Other Expenses. This amendment was intended to 
move the guidance only and was not intended to change practice. However, the amendment 
could have resulted in inconsistent accounting for offering costs among advisors to public funds 
and private funds. 
 
The amendments in this Update align the cost-capitalization guidance for advisors to both public 
funds and private funds in Topic 946. 
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FASB ASU 2018-18, Collaborative Arrangements: Clarifying the 
Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606 
 
Guidance for collaborative arrangements has existed for some time in Topic 808 and diversity in 
practice has and will continue in accounting for these agreements.  Collaborative arrangements 
are defined as a contractual arrangement under which two or more parties actively participate in 
a joint operating activity and are exposed to significant risks and rewards that depend on the 
activity’s commercial success.  This update will assist an entity in determining whether the 
contract that defines the collaborative arrangement is considered to be a contract with a 
customer, and therefore account for the contract under the new revenue recognition guidance 
. 
The following factors should be considered in the accounting treatment of the contract: 
 

 Certain transactions between collaborative arrangement participants should be accounted 
for as revenue under ASC 606 when the collaborative arrangement participant is a 
customer in the context of a unit of account.  All guidance in ASC 606 should be applied 
in this situation, including recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure 
requirements. 
 

 Requirement that in a transaction with a collaborative arrangement participant that is not 
directly related to sales to third parties, presenting the transaction as revenue under ASC 
606 is precluded if the collaborative arrangement participant is not a customer 
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Transition Plan 

If your reporting entity has not already developed a strategy for implementing the revenue 
recognition standard, you are behind schedule.  The AICPA has developed a transition plan 
template and it is available at 

https://www.aicpa.org/content/dam/aicpa/interestareas/frc/accountingfinancialreporting/revenuer
ecognition/downloadabledocuments/2014-09-liplan.pdf 

The recommended steps are as follows: 

1. Create an implementation task force and appoint a leader 

2. Evaluate how the new standard may impact your financial reporting model. 

 a. Definition of a customer 
 b. Policy for contract approval criteria 
 c. Variable revenues 
 d. Revenue timing issues 
 
3. Determine adoption method and practical expedients 
  
 a. Full retrospective 
 b. Modified retrospective 
 
4. Determine IT issues including software and subsidiary schedules 
 
5. Determine how the entity will capture the information needed for disclosures 
 
6. Develop a timeline for implementation. 
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FASB Transition Resource Group Memos 

The FASB has published 60 memos on various issues related to the adoption and transition of 
the revenue recognition standard as of November 30, 2018. The memos were prepared by the 
FASB Staff for Discussion at TRG meetings.  The summary of conclusions reached by the 
FASB staff for each meeting should be read in conjunction with the Staff Memos to determine 
the position taken by the FASB. The memos can be found at fasb.org, under the Standards-
Revenue Recognition Transition Resource Group tab.  The memo topics for specific issues 
are as follows: 

Memo No. 1 – Gross versus Net Revenue 
Memo No. 2 – Gross versus Net Revenue – Amounts Billed to Customers 
Memo No. 3 – Sales-Based and Usage Based Royalties in Contracts with Licenses and Good 
or Services other than Licenses. 
Memo No. 4 – Impairment Testing of Capitalized Contract Costs 
Memo No. 5 – Summary of Issues and Conclusions 1-4 

 
Memo No. 6 – Customer Options for Additional Goods and Services and Nonrefundable 
Upfront Fees 
Memo No .7 – Presentation of a Contract as a Contract Asset or a Contract Liability 
Memo No. 8 – Determining the Nature of a License of Intellectual Property 
Memo No. 9 – Distinct in the Context of the Contract 
Memo No. 10 – Contract Enforceability and Termination Clauses 
Memo No. 11 – Summary of Issues and Conclusions 6-10 
 
Memo No. 12 – Identifying Promised Goods and Services 
Memo No. 13 - Collectability 
Memo No. 14 – Variable Consideration 
Memo No. 15 – Noncash Consideration 
Memo No. 16 – Stand Ready Obligations 
Memo No. 17 – Islamic Finance Transactions 
Memo No. 18 – Material Right 
Memo No. 19 – Consideration Payable to a Customer 
Memo No. 20 – Significant Financing Component 
Memo No. 21 – Licenses Research Update 
Memo No. 22 – Performance Obligations Research Update 
Memo No. 23 – Costs of Obtain a Contract 
Memo No. 24 – Contract Modifications 
Memo No. 25 – Summary of Issues and Conclusions 12-24 
 
Memo No. 26 – Contributions 
Memo No. 27 – Series of Distinct Goods or Services 
Memo No. 28 – Consideration Payable to a Customer 
Memo No. 29 – Warranties 
Memo No. 30 – Significant Financing Component 
Memo No. 31 – Variable Discounts 
Memo No. 32 – Exercise of Material Right 
Memo No. 33 – Partially Satisfied Performance Obligations 
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Memo No. 34 – Summary of Issues and Conclusions 26-33 
Memo No. 35 – Accounting for Restocking Fees and Related Costs 
Memo No. 36 – Credit Cards 
Memo No. 37 – Consideration Payable to a Customer 
Memo No. 38 – Portfolio Practical Expedient and Application of Variable Consideration 
Constraint 
Memo No. 39 – Application of the Series Provision and Allocation of Variable Consideration 
Memo No. 40 – Practical Expedient for Measure Progress toward Complete Satisfaction of a 
Performance Obligations 
Memo No. 41 – Measuring Progress when Multiple Goods or Services are included in a Single 
Performance Obligation 
Memo No. 42 – Completed Contracts at Transition 
Memo No. 43 – Determining When Control of a Commodity Transfers 
Memo No. 44 – Summary of Issues and Conclusions 35 – 43 
 
Memo No. 45 – Licenses- Specific Application Issues About Restrictions and Renewals 
Memo No. 46 – Pre-Production Activities 
Memo No. 47 – Whether Fixed Odds Wagering Contracts are Included or Excluded from the 
Scope of Topic 606 
Memo No. 48 – Customer Options for Additional Goods and Services 
Memo No. 49 – Summary of Issues and Conclusions 45-48 
 
Memo No. 50 – Scoping Considerations for Incentive-Based Capital Allocations 
Memo No. 51 – Contract Asset Treatment in Contract Modifications 
Memo No. 52 – Scoping Considerations for Financial Institutions 
Memo No. 53 – Evaluating How Control Transfers Over Time 
Memo No. 54 – Class of Customer 
Memo No. 55 – Summary of Issues and Conclusions 50-54 
 
Memo No. 56 – Over time Revenue Recognition 
Memo No. 57 – Capitalization and Amortization of Incremental Costs of Obtaining a Contract 
Memo No. 58 – Royalty with Minimum Guarantee 
Memo No. 59 – Payments to Customers 
Memo No. 60 – Summary of Issues and Conclusions 56-59 
 
 
Private Company Council Memos 
 
Reimbursement of Out-of-Pocket Expenses 
Definition of a Contract and Right to Payment for Short-Cycle Manufacturing 
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Disclosure Requirements 

 
The objective of the disclosure requirements is for an entity to disclose sufficient information to 
enable users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. An entity shall disclose 
qualitative and quantitative information about all of the following:  
 

a. Its contracts with customers   
b. The significant judgments made in applying the guidance in this Topic to those contracts  
c. Any assets recognized from the costs to obtain or fulfill a contract with a customer  
 

 
An entity shall disclose (either in the notes or on the face of the statement of comprehensive 
income) revenue recognized from contracts with customers (separately from other sources of 
revenue) and any impairment losses recognized on receivables or contract assets arising from 
those contracts. 
   
The entity shall disaggregate revenue recognized from contracts with customers into categories 
that depict how the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are 
affected by economic factors.    
 
A nonpublic entity may elect not to apply the quantitative disaggregation disclosure guidance in 
paragraphs 606-10-50-5 through 50-6 and 606-10-55-89 through 55-91. If an entity elects not to 
provide those disclosures, the entity shall disclose, at a minimum, revenue disaggregated 
according to the timing of transfer of goods or services (for example, revenue from goods or 
services transferred to customers at a point in time and revenue from goods or services 
transferred to customers over time) and qualitative information about how economic factors 
(such as type of customer, geographical location of customers, and type of contract) affect the 
nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows.  
 

Public business entities must disclose all of the following: 
 

a. The opening and closing balances of receivables, contract assets, and contract liabilities 
from contracts with customers, if not otherwise separately presented or disclosed.  

b. Revenue recognized in the reporting period that was included in the contract liability 
balance at the beginning of the period.  

c.  Revenue recognized in the reporting period from performance obligations satisfied (or 
partially satisfied) in previous periods (for example, changes in transaction price).  

 
An entity shall explain how the timing of satisfaction of its performance obligations relates to the 
typical timing of payment and the effect that those factors have on the contract asset and the 
contract liability balances. The explanation provided may use qualitative information.  
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An entity shall provide an explanation of the significant changes in the contract asset and the 
contract liability balances during the reporting period. The explanation shall include qualitative 
and quantitative information. Examples of changes in the entity’s balances of contract assets and 
contract liabilities include any of the following:  
 

a. Changes due to business combinations  
b.  Cumulative catch-up adjustments to revenue that affect the corresponding contract asset 

or contract liability, including adjustments arising from a change in the measure of 
progress, a change in an estimate of the transaction price (including any changes in the 
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained), or a contract 
modification  

c.  Impairment of a contract asset  
d.  A change in the time frame for a right to consideration to become unconditional (that is, 

for a contract asset to be reclassified to a receivable)  
e.  A change in the time frame for a performance obligation to be satisfied (that is, for the 

recognition of revenue arising from a contract liability).  
 

Nonpublic entities may make the above disclosures, but if they choose not to, they must disclose 
the opening and closing balances of receivables, contract assets, and contract liabilities from 
contracts with customers, if not otherwise separately presented or disclosed.  
 
All entities shall disclose information about its performance obligations in contracts with 
customers, including a description of all of the following:  
 

a. When the entity typically satisfies its performance obligations (for example, upon 
shipment, upon delivery, as services are rendered, or upon completion of service) 
including when performance obligations are satisfied in a bill-and-hold arrangement.  

b.  The significant payment terms (for example, when payment typically is due, whether the 
contract has a significant financing component, whether the consideration amount is 
variable, and whether the estimate of variable consideration is typically constrained.)  

c.  The nature of the goods or services that the entity has promised to transfer, highlighting 
any performance obligations to arrange for another party to transfer goods or services 
(that is, if the entity is acting as an agent).  

d.  Obligations for returns, refunds, and other similar obligations.  
e.  Types of warranties and related obligations.  
 

A public entity shall disclose the following information about its remaining performance 
obligations:  
 

a. The aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations 
that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of the end of the reporting period  

b.  An explanation of when the entity expects to recognize as revenue the amount disclosed 
in accordance with paragraph (a), which the entity shall disclose in either of the following 
ways:  

 1. On a quantitative basis using the time bands that would be most appropriate for the 
duration of the remaining performance obligations  
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 2. By using qualitative information  
 

An entity shall disclose the judgments made in applying the guidance in this Topic that 
significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with 
customers. In particular, an entity shall explain the judgments, and changes in the judgments, 
used in determining both of the following:  
 

a. The timing of satisfaction of performance obligations  
b. The transaction price and the amounts allocated to performance obligations  

 
For performance obligations that an entity satisfies over time, an entity shall disclose both of the 
following:  

a. The methods used to recognize revenue (for example, a description of the output methods 
or input methods used and how those methods are applied)  

b.  An explanation of why the methods used provide a faithful depiction of the transfer of 
goods or services. (public entities only) 

 
For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, public entities shall disclose the 
significant judgments made in evaluating when a customer obtains control of promised goods or 
services.  
 
An entity shall disclose information about the methods, inputs, and assumptions used for all of 
the following:  
 

a. Determining the transaction price, which includes, but is not limited to, estimating 
variable consideration, adjusting the consideration for the effects of the time value of 
money, and measuring noncash consideration (public entities only) 

b.  Assessing whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained  
c.  Allocating the transaction price, including estimating standalone selling prices of 

promised goods or services and allocating discounts and variable consideration to a 
specific part of the contract (if applicable) (public entities only)  

d.  Measuring obligations for returns, refunds, and other similar obligations (public entities 
only) 
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Effective date 
 

 For public entities, the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2017 and interim periods within that reporting period.  Early application is 
permitted only as of annual periods beginning after December 31, 2016, including interim 
reporting periods within that period. 

 For nonpublic entities, the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2018 and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 
15, 2019.  A nonpublic entity may apply the guidance earlier, but not earlier than the 
required date for public entities. 

The amendments should be applied retrospectively.  See the details in the Update for 
transition guidance. 
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Transition Guidance 

The transition guidance can be found at ASC 606-10-65.   

An entity may elect from one of the two following transition methods: 

1. Retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented 
 

Example – A calendar year non-public entity that adopts the standard at the latest 
possible date (January 1, 2019) and issues comparative financial statements will record 
the transition adjustment as of December 31, 2017 when presenting the 2018-2019 
comparative financial statements. 
 
Example – A calendar year non-public entity that adopts the standard at the latest 
possible date (January 1, 2019) and issues single year financial statements will record 
the transition adjustment as of December 31, 2018 when presenting the 2019 
comparative financial statements. 

 
2. Retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard as of the date 

of initial application 

Example – A calendar non-public entity that adopts the standard at the latest possible 
date (January 1, 2019) and issues comparative financial statements will record the 
transition adjustment as of December 31, 2018 when presenting the 2018, 2019 
comparative financial statements. 
 
Example – A calendar yaer non-public entity that adopts the standard at the latest 
possible date (January 1, 2019) and issues single year financial statements will record 
the transition adjustment as of December 31, 2018 when presenting the 2019 
comparative financial statements. 

 

General Rule and Methodology 

1. Adjust contract assets and contract liabilities based on the difference in measuring the 
contacts in accordance with ASC 606 compared to the revenue recognition guidance the 
entity is currently using. 

2. Adjust retained earnings (or equivalent) for the net difference of the assets and liabilities 
adjustment in step 1. 
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Practical expedients 

The following practical expedients are available when applying the transition guidance 

 An entity is not required to restate contracts that begin and end in the same period. 

 For completed contracts that have variable consideration, the entity may use the 
transaction price at the date the contract was completed rather than estimating 
variable consideration amount in the comparative reporting periods. 

 For all reporting periods presented before the date of initial application, an entity need 
not disclose the amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining 
performance obligations and an explanation of when the entity expects to recognize 
that amount as revenue. 
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Transition Example 

ABC Company is a clothing retail company that offers a customer loyalty program. Under 
the program, a customer is provided a 10% credit on future purchases on each purchase. 
(Example – A customer purchases $300 on Monday.  That customer receives a $30 credit on 
future purchases, with no expiration date).  The credits due to a customer are tracked using 
the company’s POS system. 

The company is currently treating the discounts as a reduction of purchase price when the 
future sale occurs.  After obtaining an understanding of ASC 606, the CFO has determined 
that the discounts offered are considered consideration payable to the customer under ASC 
606-10-32-25.   

Upon adoption of ASC 606, the company will be required to recognize a liability (deferred 
revenue) for the amount of outstanding credits that are expected to be redeemed.  After a 
review of data provided by the POS system, the CFO determined that of the $22,000 in 
outstanding credits, $18,000 will be redeemed in future years as of December 31, 2017. 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the company had retail sales of $4,050,000 
(issuing $384,750 in future discounts). 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the company had retail sales of $4,245,000 
(issuing $403,275 in future discounts). 

The company is a Sub-S Corporation. 

Non-comparative financials 

An entry will be made on January 1, 2019 to record the liability as follows: 

 Retained earnings $ 37,750 
  Deferred revenues $37,750 
 
Comparative financials – Option 1 
 
An entry will be made on January 1, 2018 to record the liability as follows 
 
 Retained earnings 18,000 
  Deferred revenues  18,000 
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Comparative financials – Option 2 
 
An entry will be made on January 1, 2019 to record the modified retrospective adjustment as 
follows: 
 
 
 Retained earnings 37,750 
  Deferred revenues  37,750 
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Module LS 

Lease Accounting 

 

After a decade of work, the FASB issued the new standard for accounting for leases.  The 
primary objective of the project was to address the off-balance-sheet approach used to account 
for most leases (as operating leases). The legacy standard SFAS 13 (codified in ASC 840) 
contained bright line standards that allowed companies to account for most leases as operating 
leases, and therefore the obligations remained off balance sheet.   
 
This new standard was prepared as part of a joint project with the IASB, which issued its version 
of revised lease accounting rules in January, 2016 (IFRS 16).  The two standards are similar, but 
full convergence was not reached.   
 
Scope 

The scope includes all leases of property, plant and equipment, and excludes the following: 

 Leases of intangible assets 

 Leases to explore for or use nonregenerative resources (such as minerals, oil and 
natural gas) 

 Leases of biological assets 

 Leases of inventory 

 Leases of assets under construction 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

KEY POINT:  The last two categories of exceptions were not included in the original 
exposure draft.  However, commenters pointed out serious concerns if those two categories 
were included as leases, and the FASB revisited the scope in late 2015 and agreed to include 
the exceptions.  However, they included guidance on a lessee’s control of an underlying asset 
that is being constructed prior to lease commencement 
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Note that there is no exemption under GAAP for leases of low-value assets, however, an entity 
will be able to adopt a reasonable capitalization policy under which the entity will not recognize 
lease assets and liabilities that are below a certain threshold.  This is similar to the treatment for 
capitalization of purchased assets. 

 

Short term leases 
 
During deliberations of this standard, there was much discussion about short-term leases, and if 
those leases could be excluded from the requirements to record such leases on the balance sheet.  
Under the final standard, a lessee can elect to not record on the balance sheet a lease whose term 
is 12 months or less and does not include a purchase option that the lessee is reasonably certain 
to exercise.  When determining the lease term, the lessee would only include renewal options if 
they are considered part of the lease term (see discussion below regarding lease terms). 
 

Definition of a Lease 

A contract contains a lease if it gives a customer the right to control the use of the identified asset 
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  Control exists if the customer has both of the 
following: 

 The right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of an identified 
asset 
 

 The right to direct the use of that asset 

 

Key points in defining leases: 

Use of an identified asset 

 An asset is typically identified if it either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly 
specified at the time the asset is available for use.  If the supplier has substantive right to 
substitute the asset throughout the period of use, the asset is not considered “identified”. 
 

 Capacity contracts will require significant judgment.  A capacity portion of a larger asset 
must be physically distinct (such as a floor in a large office building).  If it is not 
physically distinct (such as a percentage of a pipeline), it is not an “identified asset”. 
 

 The right of a supplier to substitute assets indicates that the supplier, not the customer, 
has control of the asset.    
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Right to direct the use  

 Relevant rights are those that affect the economic benefits derived from the use of the 
asset.  Some examples: 
 

o The right to change the type of outputs produced by the asset. 
o The right to change the timing of the outputs. 
o The right to change the location of the outputs. 

 

Lease classification 

At inception of a lease, an entity is required to classify a lease as either a finance lease or an 
operating lease.  The same criterion is applied to both lessees and lessors.  This course will focus 
on lessee accounting.   
 
A lease is classified as a finance lease if substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
are transferred to the lessee.  This level is met if any of the following criteria are met: 
 
 The lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee by the end of the lease 

term. 
 The lease grants the lessee an option to purchase the assets that the lessee is reasonably 

certain to exercise. 
 The lease term is for the major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying 

asset. 
 The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by 

the lessee equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset. 
 The asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to 

the lessor at the end of the lease term. 

If a lease does not meet any of these criteria, it will be classified as an operating lease.  Note that 
the term “operating lease” does NOT mean that it will be off-balance sheet (as operating leases 
are under existing GAAP). 

It is expected that most equipment leases will be classified as finance leases, while most real 
estate leases will be classified as operating leases. 
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Reconsideration of Lease Classification 

A lessee is not required to reassess its classification of a lease unless either: 

 The lease is subsequently modified and the modification is not accounted for as a 
separate contract or 

 There is a change to the lease term or a change in the assessment of the exercise of a 
purchase option. 
 

Lease Term 

The lease term is the noncancelable lease period and any optional renewal periods if it is 
reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise a renewal option or the exercise of those options 
is controlled by the lessor. 

Factors that should be considered in assessing the likelihood of a lessee’s exercise of an option 
include: 

 Contract-based factors, such as a bargain purchase option or a requirement for the 
lessee to incur substantial costs to restore the asset before returning it to the lessor. 
 

 Asset-based factors, such as the lessee installing significant leasehold improvements that 
would still have economic value in the renewal periods, or the facility is in a desirable 
location with no other viable locations. 
 

 Entity-specific factors, such as the historical practice of the entity, standard industry 
practice, and management intent. 
 

 Market-based factors, such as market rentals for comparable assets. 

The lease term should be reassessed by the lessee when: 

 A contract term obliges the lessee to exercise (or not exercise) an option to extend or 
terminate a lease. 

 The lessee elects to exercise an option to renew that it had previously determined was not 
reasonably certain to be exercised or 

 A significant event occurs that is clearly within the control of the lessee that will affect 
whether the lessee would be reasonably certain to exercise a renewal option. 

Note that lessors are not required to reassess the lease term unless the lease is modified and the 
modified lease is a separate contract. 
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Calculating the Lease Amounts 

The amount to be recorded on the balance sheet is calculated by determining the lease liability.  
In calculating this total, the following should be included: 

 Fixed payments 
 Variable payments based on an index or rate (but not those based on sales volume or 

output, or similar factors).  Note that variable payments based on an index will be 
calculated using the spot index or rate at lease commencement. 

 Amounts that are probable to be owed under a residual value guarantee 
 Payments relating to purchase or termination options that the lessee is reasonably certain 

to exercise 

Variable payments must be reassessed only when the lease liability is re-measured as a result of: 

 Lease modifications that are not treated as a separate contract 
 A contingency is resolved such that a variable payment that was excluded from the 

calculation is now included (such as a sales target being met that converts a variable 
payment to a fixed payment). 

 There is a change in the lease term, the assessment of whether a purchase option will be 
exercised or the amount that it is probable will be owed under a residual value guarantee. 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate to be used is based on information that is available as of the lease 
commencement date.  A lessee should use the rate the lessor charges on the lease if that rate is 
readily determinable.  Generally, that rate is not available. Therefore, the lessee should use its 
incremental borrowing rate.  The discount rate will only be updated by the lessee if there is a 
remeasurement of the lease liability unless the remeasurement is based on changes in one of the 
following: 

 The lease term or assessment of whether a purchase option will be exercised, and the 
discount rate already reflects the option to exchange 

 Amounts that are probable of payment under a residual value guarantee 
 Lease payments resulting from the resolution of a contingency upon which variable 

payments are based. 

 

 

 

 

Non-public company option:  Nonpublic business entities are allowed 
to make an accounting policy election to use the risk free discount rate 
instead of their incremental borrowing rate.  Note that using the risk 
free rate will result in a larger lease liability (and ROU asset). 
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Lessee Accounting 

A lessee will record a lease obligation liability calculated as the present value of lease payments 
not yet paid and a corresponding asset representing its right of use (ROU) asset.  The asset initial 
value will also include initial direct costs that are directly attributable to negotiating and 
arranging the lease that would not have been incurred had the lease not been executed and any 
lease payments make to the lessor before or at the commencement of the lease. 

Finance leases 

Lessee will use the effective interest rate method to subsequently account for the lease 
liability.  The ROU asset will be amortized in a manner similar to that for owned assets. 
Generally, straight-line amortization will be used unless another method would be 
appropriate.  The interest and amortization expenses will be shown separately on the 
income statement.  The result of this accounting is that total expense relating to the lease 
will be front-loaded (similar to current capital lease accounting). 

 Operating leases 

The lessee will use the effective interest rate method to subsequently account for the lease 
liability under this approach as well.  However, the amortization of the ROU asset will be 
linked to the amount recognized as the lease liability.  Effectively, the result should be 
straight-line total expense.  The lease expense will be shown on one line item in the 
income statement.  The difference between the straight line amount and the interest 
amortization is the “plug” for the amortization of the ROU asset. 

 

Impairment of Lease Asset 

The ROU asset will be tested for impairment in the same manner as any other amortizing, long-
lived asset.  If an asset under an operating lease is impaired the remaining asset will be 
subsequently amortized evenly over the remaining lease term unless another systematic method 
would be more appropriate.  The result would be that the lease expense will no longer be straight 
line, as the interest portion will continue to be amortized on a declining balance, while the 
amortization of the asset will no longer be a “plug” to make the final expense level.  However, 
both components of the expense will still be presented together on one line in the income 
statement. 
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Lessor Accounting 

Recognition and measurement 
FASB ASC 842 provides recognition guidance for sales-type leases, direct financing leases, and 
operating leases. The following table summarizes the guidance:  

Sales-type leases 
At the commencement date After the commencement date 

Lessor derecognizes the underlying asset and 
recognizes the following: 

 Net investment in the lease (lease receivable 
and unguaranteed residual asset) 

 Selling profit or loss arising from the lease 
 Initial direct costs as an expense 

Lessor recognizes the following: 

 Interest income on the net investment in the 
lease 

 Certain variable lease payments 
 Impairment 

Direct financing leases 
At the commencement date After the commencement date 

Lessor derecognizes the underlying asset and 
recognizes the following: 

 Net investment in the lease (lease receivable 
and unguaranteed residual asset reduced by 
selling profit) 

 Selling loss arising from the lease, if applicable
  

 Impairment 

Lessor recognizes the following: 

 Interest income on the net investment in the 
lease 

 Certain variable lease payments 

Operating leases 
At the commencement date After the commencement date 

Lessor defers initial direct costs. Lessor recognizes the following: 

 The lease payments as income in profit or loss 
over the lease term on a straight-line basis 
(unless another method in more representative 
of the benefit received) 

 Certain variable lease payments as income in 
profit or loss 

 Indirect costs as an expense over the lease 
term on the same basis as lease income 
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Presentation and disclosure 
Key presentation matters include the following: 

For sales-type and direct financing leases: 

 Statement of financial position 
– Separate presentation of lease assets (that is, aggregate of lessor’s net investment in sales-

type leases and direct financing leases) from other assets 
– Classified as current or noncurrent based on the same considerations as other assets 

 Statement of comprehensive income 
– Presentation of income from leases in the statement of comprehensive income or 

disclosure of income from leases in the notes with a reference to the corresponding line in 
the statement of comprehensive income 

– Presentation of profit or loss recognized at the commencement date in a manner 
appropriate to lessor’s business model 

 Statement of cash flows 
– Presentation with operating activities—cash receipts from leases 

For operating leases: 

 Statement of financial position 
– Presentation of an underlying asset subject to an operating lease in accordance with other 

FASB ASC topics 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 

–   Separate presentation or disclosure of lease income 
 Statement of cash flows 

– Presentation with operating activities—cash receipts from leases 

Disclosure requirements include qualitative and quantitative information for leases, significant 
judgements, and amounts recognized in the financial statements, including certain specified 
information and amounts. 

Sale and leaseback transactions 
FASB ASC 842 provides guidance for both the transfer contract and the lease in a sale and 
leaseback transaction (a transaction in which a seller-lessee transfers an asset to a buyer-lessor 
and leases that asset back). Determination of whether the transfer is a sale should be based on 
provisions of FASB ASC 606. FASB ASC 842-40-25 provides measurement guidance for a 
transfer that is either determined to be a sale or determined not to be a sale. 

FASB ASC 842-40 provides guidance for subsequent measurement, financial statement 
presentation, and disclosures. 

Leveraged lease arrangements 
The legacy accounting model for leveraged leases continues to apply to those leveraged leases 
that commenced before the effective date of FASB ASC 842. There is no separate accounting 
model for leveraged leases that commence after the effective date of FASB ASC 842. 
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Disclosure Requirements for Leases 

 
Qualitative Disclosures 
  
A lessee should disclose: 
  
 Information about the nature of its leases and subleases (general description of the lease, 

variable lease payments, renewal or termination options, residual value guarantees, and 
restrictions imposed by the lease). 

  
 Leases that have not yet commenced, but give the lessee significant rights or impose 

significant obligations, including the nature of any involvement in the design or 
construction of the underlying asset. 

  
 Significant assumptions and judgments used in applying the leases standard. 

  
 Main terms and conditions of any sale and lease back transactions. 

  
 Lease transactions with related parties. 

  
 Accounting policy regarding short-term leases. 

  
 Accounting policy elections of the practical expedient not to separate lease and nonlease 

components. 
  
Quantitative Disclosures 
  
A lessee should disclose the following amounts for each period presented: 
  
 Finance lease costs (amortization of the asset and interest on the liability) 

  
 Operating lease costs 

  
 Short-term lease costs 

  
 Variable lease costs 

  
 Sub-lease income, disclosed on a gross basis. 

  
 Gain or loss resulting from sale-and-leaseback transactions. 
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A lessee should disclose the following amounts separately for its operating and finance leases: 
  
 Separate maturity analysis of its operating lease liabilities and finance lease liabilities 

(undiscounted cash flows for each of the next five years and a total of the amounts for the 
remaining years, reconciled to the amounts presented in the statement of financial 
position) 

  
 Cash paid for amounts included in its determination of lease liabilities (segregated 

between operating and financing cash flows) 
  
 Supplemental non-cash information on lease liabilities arising from obtaining ROU assets 

  
 Weighted-average remaining lease term 

  
Weighted-average discount rate   
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Lease Accounting Transition - General 

Modified Retrospective Approach 

Record right of use asset and lease liability as of the beginning of the earliest period presented 

Practical expedients 

 No reassessment of the following 

o Whether any expired or existing contracts contain leases 
o The lease classification for any expired or existing leases 
o Initial direct costs for any existing leases 

 

 An entity may use hindsight in determining the remaining lease term and in assessing 
impairment of the right of use asset 

ASU 2018-11 – Lease Accounting, Targeted Improvements 

The FASB issued ASU 2018-11 in July 2018 to provide transition guidance to the lease 
accounting standard for the following issues: 

 Comparative reporting requirements for initial adoption 

 Lessor accounting for contracts that have both lease and non-lease components 

Transition-Comparative Reporting at Adoption 
 

The FASB has added another transition method by allowing entities to initially apply the lease 
standard at the adoption date and recognize a cumulative effect adjustment to the opening 
balance of retained earnings (or equivalent) in the period of adoption. 

Separating Components of a Contract – Lessor Accounting 
 

A practical expedient is provided to lessors that will allow a lessor to not separate nonlease 
components from the associated lease component and, instead, to account for those components 
as a single component if the nonlease components otherwise would be accounted for under the 
new revenue recognition guidance and both of the following conditions are met: 

 The timing and pattern of transfer of the nonlease component(s) and associate lease 
component are the same 

 The lease component, if accounted for separately, would be classified as an operating 
lease 
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If the non-lease components are the predominate components of the contract, account for the 
contract under the new revenue recognition guidance (ASC 606). 

If the lease components are the predominate component of the contract, account for the contract 
as an operating lease in accordance with ASC 842. 
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Lease Accounting Transition - Lessee 

Leases previously accounted for as an operating lease 

1. Recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability upon adoption date 
a. Right-of-use asset measurement at transition 

i. The amount of the lease liability defined in item b. below 
ii. Adjust for the following items 

1. Prepaid or accrued lease payments 
2. Remaining balance of lease incentives received 
3. Unamortized initial direct costs 
4. Impairment of the right of use asset 

b. Lease liability measurement at transition 
i. Sum of the present value of the remaining minimum lease payments 

ii. Any amounts probable of being owed under a residual value guarantee 

Leases previously accounted for as a capital lease and subsequently accounted 
for as a finance lease upon adoption 

a. Recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the carrying amount of the 
lease asset and capital lease obligation in accordance with the guidance used prior 
to the adoption of this standard. 

b. Include any unamortized initial direct costs that meet the definition of initial 
direct costs. 

c. If the practical expedient is elected, continue to account for the right-of-use asset 
and lease liability in the current manner prior to implementing this standard. 

d. Classify the assets and liabilities held under capital leases as right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities for presentation and disclosure issues 

Leases previously accounted for as a capital lease and subsequently accounted 
for as an operating lease upon adoption 

a. De-recognize the carrying amount of any capital lease asset and lease obligation 
a. Any difference should be accounted for in the same manner as prepaid or 

accrued rent 
b. Recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in accordance with the new 

lease standard (this will vary depending upon which practical expedients are 
elected) 

c. Account for the lease as an operating lease subsequent to transition 
d. Write off any unamortized initial direct costs that do not meet the definition of an 

initial direct cost within the new standard as an adjustment to equity. 
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Effective Date 

Public business entities – Effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and 
interim periods therein. 
 
All other entities – Effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim 
periods thereafter. 
 
Early adoption is permitted for all entities. 
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Finance Lease Example #1 – Truck Lease 

Facts: 
 
ABC Company (a nonpublic company) leases a fleet of five Volkswagen trucks for a three year 
term.  The trucks have a fair value of $30,000 each at inception of the lease, with an expected 
20% residual value at the end of the lease term.  The expected economic life of the trucks is five 
years.   There is no purchase option or transfer of ownership at the termination of the lease.  The 
payments are $3,868/month, of which $286 is a use tax.  The first month is paid at the inception 
of the lease. 
 
The dealer does not disclose the interest rate in the lease.  The last three borrowings the company 
made include a credit card with a 19% rate, a 5% rate on a 3 year  secured loan, and 7% on a 
working line of credit. 
 
 
Conclusions: 
 
 The transaction is a lease, because control of the asset has been transferred to ABC 

Company, based on the fact that ABC has the right to direct the use of the asset and to 
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset. 

 
 Under the new standard (ASC 842), the lease should be categorized as a finance lease, 

since the lease term is for a major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying 
asset.  Under ASC 840 (existing standards), this lease would have been classified as an 
operating lease. 
 

 The lease term is 3 years.  There are no renewal options to consider. 
 

 The appropriate discount rate is 5%, as this is the borrowing rate of the lessee on a recent, 
similar transaction. 
 

 There are no variable payments to consider. 
 

 The PV of the lease liability is $120,000.  This is also the amount to be recorded as the 
ROU asset. 
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Entries: 
 
The following entries are made at lease inception by the lessee: 
 
ROU asset – leased trucks 120,000 
 Lease Obligation  120,000 
 
Use tax expense 286 
Lease Obligation 3,582 
 Cash (1st month payment)  3,868 
  
In the first year, the following entries are made (these are annual amounts; the monthly amounts 
for the interest expense will be based on the amortization schedule). 
 
Interest Expense on Lease Obligation 4,617 
Use tax expense 3,146 
Lease obligation 34,780 
 Cash  42,543 
 
Amortization Expense 40,000 
 ROU asset – accumulated amortization  $40,000 
 
The following table shows the annual amounts for the entire lease term: 
 
Period Lease Liability Interest Expense Amortization 

Expense
Total Lease 
Expense

0 120,000  
1    81,638 $   4,617 $ 40,000 $44,617 
2    41,837     3,178   40,000   43,178 
3      -0-     1,142   40,000   41,142 
   
Total  $   8,937 $120,000 $128,937
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Finance Lease Example #2 – Equipment Lease with Purchase Option 

Facts: 
 
ABC Company (a nonpublic company) leases a large conveyor belt for a five year term.  The 
equipment has a fair value of $100,000 at inception of the lease, with an expected 40% residual 
value at the end of the lease term.  The expected economic life of the asset is seven years.    
 
There is an option to purchase the equipment at the termination of the lease for $25,000, which is 
considered a bargain purchase option.  There is also an option to renew the lease for one five 
year term at a rate of $600/month.   
 
The payments are $1,400/month, which includes $272 designated as maintenance fees.  Due to 
the type of equipment, there is no use tax.  The first month is paid at the inception of the lease. 
 
The dealer does not disclose the interest rate in the lease.  The last three borrowings the company 
made include a credit card with a 19% rate, a 5% rate on a 3 year  secured loan, and 7% on a 
working line of credit. 
 
Conclusions: 
 
 The transaction is a lease, because control of the asset has been transferred to ABC 

Company, based on the fact that ABC has the right to direct the use of the asset and to 
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset. 

 
 Under the new standard (ASC 842), the lease should be categorized as a finance lease, 

since the lease term is for a major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying 
asset and due to the bargain purchase option.  Under ASC 840 (existing standards), this 
lease would have been classified as a capital lease due to the bargain purchase option. 
 

 The lease term is 5 years.  Because the renewal term extends beyond the economic life of 
the asset, management deems it unlikely that the renewal option will be exercised. 
 

 The appropriate discount rate is 5%, as this is the borrowing rate of the lessee on a recent, 
similar transaction. 
 

 There are no variable payments to consider. 
 

 The PV of the lease liability is $79,562.  This is also the amount to be recorded as the 
ROU asset. 
 

 Because the purchase option is expected to be exercised, the ROU asset should be 
amortized over the expected life of seven years, rather than the lease term of five years. 
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Entries: 
 
The following entries are made at lease inception by the lessee: 
 
ROU asset – leased equipment 79,562 
 Lease obligation  79,562 
 
Maintenance expense 272 
Lease obligation 1,128 
 Cash (1st month payment)  1,400 
 
In the first year, the following entries are made (these are annual amounts; the monthly amounts 
for the interest expense will be based on the amortization schedule). 
 
Interest Expense on Lease Obligation 3,409 
Maintenance expense 2,997 
Lease obligation 8,994 
 Cash  15,400 
 
Amortization Expense 11,366 
 ROU asset – accumulated amortization  $11,366 
  Calculated as $79,562/7 years) 
 
At the end of the lease period, the company exercises its option to purchase the equipment and 
makes the following entry: 
  
Lease obligation 25,000 
 Cash  25,000 
 
The asset is reclassified to purchased PPE & is depreciated over the estimated remaining useful 
life, using information available at the time of the purchase.  The amount reclassified is the 
original ROU asset of $79,562 less the amortization of $56,830. 
 
The following table shows the annual amounts for the entire lease term: 
 
Period Lease Liability Interest Expense Amortization 

Expense
Total Lease 
Expense

0    78,434  
1    69,440 $   3,409 $ 11,366 $19,321 
2    59,147     3,238   11,366   19,150 
3    48,328     2,712   11,366   18,624 
4    36,955     2,158   11,366   18,070 
5    25,000     1,576   11,366   17,488 
Exercise option     -0-  
   
Total  $   8,937 $ 56,830 $ 92,653
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Operating Lease Example – Real Estate 

Facts: 
 
ABC Company (a nonpublic company) leases an office building (including the land).  This is 
new construction, but ABC Company was not involved in the design or construction of the 
building.  The building has an estimated useful life of forty years.  The land obviously has an 
indefinite life. 
 
The initial term of the lease is for five years, with an annual rent of $60,000 payable monthly.  
There is one renewal option with a term of five years, with annual rent of $66,000 month payable 
monthly (negotiated down from the initial offer of $72,000/year).  The payments are all fixed. 
 
The lessor does not disclose the interest rate in the lease.  The last three borrowings the company 
made include a credit card with a 19% rate, a 5% rate on a 3 year  secured loan, and 7% on a 
working line of credit.  None of these transactions are considered comparable to the current 
transaction. 
 
The company paid legal and accounting fees of $15,000 directly relating to negotiating and 
closing this transaction 
 
 
Conclusions: 
 
 The transaction is a lease, because control of the asset has been transferred to ABC 

Company, based on the fact that ABC has the right to direct the use of the asset and to 
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset. 

 
 Under the new standard (ASC 842), the lease should be categorized as an operating lease, 

since none of the criteria for a finance lease are met.  Under ASC 840 (existing 
standards), this lease would also have been classified as an operating lease. 
 

 The lease term is 10 years.  Because the company negotiated the renewal rate down from 
the initial offer, and based on management discussions, the current plan is to exercise the 
renewal.   
 

 The appropriate discount rate is 6%, based on a study of market rates for similar 
transactions for a company with the credit profile of ABC Company.  Management 
determined this based on discussions with their banker. 
 

 There are no variable payments to consider. 
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 The company determines that the lease includes both a building and land component, and 

that each would be classified as an operating lease, and therefore accounting for the two 
lease components together is reasonable since the overall impact of accounting for them 
separately would be insignificant. 
 

 The PV of the lease liability is $471,889 (inclusive of the initial payment). 
 

 The ROU asset is recorded as the amount of the lease liability plus the $15,000 in 
professional fees relating directly to the origination of the lease. 

 
Entries: 
 
The following entries are made at lease inception by the lessee: 
 
ROU asset – real estate 486,889 
 Cash (1st month payment)  5,000 
 Cash (payments to attorneys)  15,000 
 Lease obligation  466,889 
 
In the first year, the following entries are made (these are the eleven payments that are made 
after the initial payment recorded above, and are based on payments of $5,000 month). 
 
Lease expense 64,500 
Lease Liability 30,065 
 Cash  55,000 
 ROU Asset – accumulated amortization  39,565 
 
The lease expense above is calculated as the amount paid over both the initial and renewal 
periods totaled, plus the professional fees, then divided by 120 months for a straight line 
expense.  The lease liability is decreased by the principal from the amortization schedule, with 
amortization of the asset being the “plug” figure. 
 
Calculation of Annual Lease Expense 
 
 Up front costs $     15,000 
 First five years (60 x $5,000) 300,000 
 Last five years  (60 x $5,500)    330,000 
 
 Total cash paid 645,000 
 Divided by term (years)             10 
 Annual operating expense 64,500 
  



 

  LS ‐ 22 

 
 
The following table shows the annual amounts for the entire lease term: 
 

Period Lease Liability Accumulated 
Amortization 

Lease Expense 

0 $471,889 
1   436,824 $ 39,565 $ 64,500
2   402,088   78,801   64,500
3   365,210  120,179    64,500
4   326,058  163,831   64,500
5   284,481  209,898   64,500
6   234,192  258,697   64,500
7   180,791  310,598   64,500
8   124,096  365,793   64,500
9     63,904  424,485   64,500
10     -0-  486,889   64,500
  
Total  $645,000

 
  
 
 



NFP-1 

Module NFP 
 

ASU 2016-14 Presentation of Financial Statements of 
Not-for-Profit Entities 

Why was this standard issued? 

The FASB added a project to its agenda to improve the current net asset classification 
requirements and the information presented in financial statements and notes about a not-for-
profit entity’s (NFP’s) liquidity, financial performance, and cash flows. The FASB’s Not-for-
Profit Advisory Committee (NAC) and other stakeholders indicated that existing standards for 
financial statements of NFPs are sound but could be improved to provide more useful 
information to users of financial statements. This Update is the result of the FASB’s efforts in 
the first of two phases of its project. 
 
Who is affected by this standard? 

All not-for-profit entities are affected.  Those NFPs typically include nongovernmental entities 
such as charities, foundations, colleges and universities, health care providers, cultural 
institutions, religious organizations, and trade associations, among others. They generally do not 
include investor-owned entities or entities that provide dividends, lower costs, or other economic 
benefits directly and proportionately to their owners, members, or participants, such as mutual 
insurance entities, credit unions, farm and rural electric cooperatives, and employee benefit 
plans. 
 
What are the main provisions of this standard? 

The main provisions of this Update, which amend the requirements for financial statements and 
notes in Topic 958, Not-for-Profit Entities, require an NFP to: 
 

1. Present on the face of the statement of financial position amounts for two classes of net 
assets at the end of the period, rather than for the currently required three classes. That is, 
an NFP will report amounts for net assets with donor restrictions and net assets without 
donor restrictions, as well as the currently required amount for total net assets. 
 

2. Present on the face of the statement of activities the amount of the change in each of the 
two classes of net assets (noted in item 1) rather than that of the currently required three 
classes. An NFP would continue to report the currently required amount of the change in 
total net assets for the period. 
 

3. Continue to present on the face of the statement of cash flows the net amount for 
operating cash flows using either the direct or indirect method of reporting but no longer 
require the presentation or disclosure of the indirect method (reconciliation) if using the 
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direct method. 
 

4. Provide the following enhanced disclosures about: 
 
a. Amounts and purposes of governing board designations, appropriations, and similar 

actions that result in self-imposed limits on the use of resources without donor-
imposed restrictions as of the end of the period. 
 

b. Composition of net assets with donor restrictions at the end of the period and how the 
restrictions affect the use of resources. 
 

c. Qualitative information that communicates how an NFP manages its liquid resources 
available to meet cash needs for general expenditures within one year of the balance 
sheet date. 
 

d. Quantitative information, either on the face of the balance sheet or in the notes, and 
additional qualitative information in the notes as necessary, that communicates the 
availability of an NFP’s financial assets at the balance sheet date to meet cash needs 
for general expenditures within one year of the balance sheet date. Availability of a 
financial asset may be affected by (1) its nature, (2) external limits imposed by 
donors, grantors, laws, and contracts with others, and (3) internal limits imposed by 
governing board decisions.  
 

e. Amounts of expenses by both their natural classification and their functional 
classification. That analysis of expenses is to be provided in one location, which 
could be on the face of the statement of activities, as a separate statement, or in notes 
to financial statements. 
 

f. Method(s) used to allocate costs among program and support functions. 
 

g. Underwater endowment funds, which include required disclosures of: 
i. an NFP’s policy, and any actions taken during the period, concerning 

appropriation from underwater endowment funds,  
ii. the aggregate fair value of such funds,  

iii. the aggregate of the original gift amounts (or level required by donor or law) 
to be maintained, and  

iv. the aggregate amount by which funds are underwater (deficiencies), which are 
to be classified as part of net assets with donor restrictions. 

 
5. Report investment return net of external and direct internal investment expenses and no 

longer require disclosure of those netted expenses.  
 

6. Use, in the absence of explicit donor stipulations, the placed-in-service approach for 
reporting expirations of restrictions on gifts of cash or other assets to be used to acquire 
or construct a long-lived asset and reclassify any amounts from net assets with donor 
restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions for such long-lived assets that have 
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been placed in service as of the beginning of the period of adoption (thus eliminating the 
current option to release the donor-imposed restriction over the estimated useful life of 
the acquired asset). 
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Sample Financial Statements under ASU 2016-14 
 

Sample Not-For-Profit Entity 
Statement of Financial Position 

June 30, 2017 
 

Assets 
 

Cash and cash equivalents $      45,000 
Pledges receivable 22,000 
Prepaid expenses 4,000 
Short term investments 185,000 
Property, plant, and equipment, net 165,000 
Long-term investments        850,000 
 
Total assets $  1,271,000 
 

Liabilities and Net Assets 
 

Accounts payable $       23,000 
Notes payable       115,000 
 
Total liabilities       138,000 
 
Net assets 
 Without donor restrictions    683,000 
 With donor restrictions       450,000 
Total net assets    1,133,000  
 
Total liabilities and net assets $  1,271,000 
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Sample Not-For-Profit Entity 
Statement of Activities 

For the year ended June 30, 2017 
 

 
    Without Donor  With Donor 
    Restrictions  Restrictions  Total 
 
Revenues, gains, and other support: 
 Contributions  $   85,000 $  150,000 $  235,000 
 Grants  -0- 165,000 165,000 
 Dues and fees  13,000 -0- 13,000 
 Investment gains  25,000 83,000 108,000 
  Net assets released from restrictions 14,000 (14,000) -0- 
  Satisfaction of program restrictions 8,000 (8,000)  -0- 
  Expiration of time restrictions  25,000 (25,000)  -0- 
  Satisfaction of donor restrictions     153,000  (153,000)                -0- 
  Total net assets released from restrictions    200,000  (200,000)                -0- 
   Total revenues, gains, and other support      323,000   198,000       521,000 
 
Expenses 
 Program A  115,000 -0-  115,000 
 Program B  86,000 -0-  86,000 
 Program C  53,000 -0-  53,000 
 Management and general  55,000 -0-  55,000 
 Fundraising      10,000           -0-        10,000 
   Total expenses    319,000                -0-      319,000 
 
Change in net assets       4,000  198,000   202,000 
Net assets, beginning of  year    679,000  252,000        31,000 
 
Net assets, end of year  $ 683,000 $ 450,000  $1,113,000 
 

 
What is the effective date of this standard? 

This standard is effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 and 
for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018.  Early application is 
permitted.  The amendments should be applied on a retrospective basis in the year the Update is 
first applied. 
  



NFP-6 

FASB ASU 2018-08, Clarifying the Scope and the 
Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and 
Contributions Made 

This update was issued to assist stakeholders in determining whether a transaction is a 
contribution or an exchange and for determining when a contribution is conditional.  This 
guidance has existed in the code for some time, but the issuance of the revenue recognition 
standard has identified some areas that need additional clarification.   

Consideration of contribution versus exchange transactions 
The codification currently has guidance on accounting for transactions for not-for-profit entities 
as either 

 Contributions – nonreciprocal transactions (following guidance in ASC 958-605) 

 Exchange – reciprocal transaction (follow guidance in ASC 606) 
 

This standard provides additional guidance when determining whether the transfer of goods or 
services should be considered an exchange transaction (which will result in ASC 606-Revenue 
Recognition) being applied for recognition purposes: 

 A resource provider is not synonymous with the general public. A benefit received by the 
public as a result of the assets transferred in not equivalent to commensurate value by the 
resource provider. 

 Execution of a resource provider’s mission or the positive sentiment from acting as a 
donor does not constitute commensurate value received by a resource provider for 
purposes of determining whether a transfer of assets is a contribution or an exchange 

 

Consideration of donor-imoposed resrictions 
A not-for-profit entity is required to differentiate contributions with and contributions without donor 
imposed restrictions on the statement of activities.  This ASU provides further guidance in determining 
whether a donor-imposed restriction exists by defining the following criteria for a donor-imposed 
restriction: 

 One or more barriers that must be overcome before a recipient is entitled to the assets 
transferred or promised 

 A right of return to the contributor for assets transferred or a right of release of the 
promisor from its obligation to transfer assets 
 

There are several factors that should be considered when determining if barriers exist that may 
make the contribution conditional, there is no one single factor that overrides another.  Judgment 
must be used in determining if donor restrictions exist.  It is the belief of the FASB that the 
guidance in this update will have the impact of more grants and contracts being accounted for as 
contributions rather than exchanges. By definition, the contracts that would be treated as a 
contribution will not be accounted for using the guidance in ASC 606 (the new revenue 
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recognition standard), but instead be accounted for using the not-for-profit industry guidance in 
ASC 958-605. 
 
There are various effective dates for this standard, depending on the type of entity and type of 
transaction.  Because early adoption is permitted, and this standard helps clarify how to account 
for certain transactions, it is recommended to implement as early as possible. 
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ASU 2017- 02:  NFP Entities - Consolidation 

 
Why was this standard issued? 

Since not-for-profit entities are generally scoped out of the guidance relating to Variable Interest 
Entities, the process of following GAAP inadvertently did not address the issue of when a 
general partner should consolidate a for-profit limited partnership, but rather when a limited 
partner should consolidate the partnership.  The amendments in this Update maintain how NFP 
general partners currently apply the consolidation guidance in Subtopic 810-20 by including that 
guidance within Subtopic 958-810. 
 
 
Who is affected by this standard? 

This update affects any NFP that is a general partner or a limited partner of a for-profit limited 
partnership or similar legal entity. 
 
What are the main provisions of this standard? 

General Partners 
The amendments in this Update retain the consolidation guidance that was in Subtopic 810-20 
for NFPs by including it within Subtopic 958-810. Therefore, under the amendments, NFPs that 
are general partners continue to be presumed to control a for-profit limited partnership, 
regardless of the extent of their ownership interest, unless that presumption is overcome. The 
presumption is overcome if the limited partners have either substantive kick-out rights or 
substantive participating rights.  
 
Limited Partners 
The amendments in this Update also add guidance to Subtopic 958-810 on when an NFP limited 
partner should consolidate a for-profit limited partnership. The amendments in Update 2015-02 
added new guidance to the general consolidation guidance in Subtopic 810-10 on when limited 
partners should consolidate limited partnerships that are not VIEs or that are not within the scope 
of the VIE consolidation guidance. Although the Codification tries to eliminate redundant 
content by excluding general guidance from the Industry Topics, the amendments in this Update 
add that guidance to Subtopic 958-810 for ease of reference and make conforming revisions to 
the application guidance. 
 
What is the effective date of this standard? 

This Update is effective for NFPs for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and 
interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017.  Early adoption is 
permitted. 
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